University of South Dakota

USD RED

Dissertations and Theses

Theses, Dissertations, and Student Projects

12-2021

RELATION OF EMOTION REGULATION DIFFICULTIES, SELF-COMPASSION, AND POSTTRAUMATIC STRESS SYMPTOMS

Emily Anne Kalantar University of South Dakota

Follow this and additional works at: https://red.library.usd.edu/diss-thesis



Part of the Clinical Psychology Commons

Recommended Citation

Kalantar, Emily Anne, "RELATION OF EMOTION REGULATION DIFFICULTIES, SELF-COMPASSION, AND POSTTRAUMATIC STRESS SYMPTOMS" (2021). Dissertations and Theses. 4. https://red.library.usd.edu/diss-thesis/4

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Theses, Dissertations, and Student Projects at USD RED. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations and Theses by an authorized administrator of USD RED. For more information, please contact dloftus@usd.edu.

RELATION OF EMOTION REGULATION DIFFICULTIES, SELF-COMPASSION, AND POSTTRAUMATIC STRESS SYMPTOMS

By

Emily A. Kalantar

B.A., California State University, Monterey Bay, 2017

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements of the Degree of Master of Arts

Department of Psychology

Clinical Psychology Program
In the Graduate School
The University of South Dakota
December 2021

Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I am extremely grateful to my graduate advisor, Dr. Berghoff, whose expertise was invaluable at every stage of this research project. His insightful feedback pushed me to sharpen my thinking and brought my work to a higher level. I would also like to express my gratitude to my committee members, Dr. Simons, and Dr. Jorgensen, for their encouragement, intuitive comments, and helpful suggestions that made my research so much richer, and my thesis something I am proud of having written. I'd like to acknowledge the individuals who participated in my research study and shared vulnerable moments from their lives to make this project possible. I could not have completed this thesis without the support of my cohort, who provided stimulating discussions and happy distractions to rest my mind outside of research. Finally, I would like to thank my parents for their wise counsel and sympathetic ear. They never wavered in their support.

The members of the Committee appointed to examine the thesis of Emily Kalantar find it satisfactory and recommend that it be accepted.

Docusigned by: Christopher Berghoff

Chairperson, Dr. Christopher R. Berghoff

DocuSigned by:

Raluca Simons

Dr. Raluca M. Simons

DocuSigned by:

Lindsey Jorgensen

Dr. Lindsey E. Jorgensen

ABSTRACT

Exposure to potentially traumatic events is associated with high emotion regulation difficulties, development of posttraumatic stress disorder, and elevated healthcare expenditures. Emotion regulation difficulties are related to worse clinical and sub-clinical posttraumatic stress symptomology relative to use of effective emotion regulation strategies. Yet, significant variance in posttraumatic stress symptom severity remains unexplained after accounting for emotion regulation difficulties, suggesting identification of additional explanatory variables is warranted. Considerable research suggests high (vs. low) self-compassion, which entails extending kindness to oneself, is related to more effective emotion regulation and low posttraumatic stress symptom severity. As such, self-compassion may be one variable that accounts for variance in the relation of posttraumatic stress symptomology above and beyond emotion regulation. However, no research has specified the relation of posttraumatic stress symptom severity, emotion regulation difficulties, and self-compassion in a singular statistical model. Accordingly, the present study examined these relations among a sample of college students exposed to at least one potentially traumatic event (N = 145; $M_{age} = 19.68$, $SD_{age} = 2.77$; Range = 18–23). Results suggested emotion regulation difficulties were significantly and inversely related to self-compassion and positively related to posttraumatic stress symptom severity. Self-compassion was inversely related to posttraumatic stress symptom severity. However, self-compassion did not account for a significant amount of variance of posttraumatic stress symptom severity above and beyond that accounted for by emotion regulation difficulties. Results are discussed in terms of additional variables that may modify the ER-SC relation in PTE exposed individuals and the implementation of experimental and longitudinal designs to improve upon present research.

Thesis Advisor:

711 000225401400...

Dr. Christopher R. Berghoff

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWI	LEDGEMENTS	i
ABSTRAC	Γ	iii
LIST OF TA	ABLES AND FIGURES	vi
Chapter		
I.	REVIEW OF LITERATURE	1
	Introduction	1
	Posttraumatic Stress	5
	Emotion and Emotion Regulation	8
	Function of Emotion	10
	Emotion Regulation	11
	ER and PTSD	
	Self-Compassion	
	Emotion Regulation, Self-Compassion, and Posttraumatic Stress	
	General Summary and Purpose	
	Aims and Specific Hypotheses of the Present Study	32
II.	METHOD	32
	Participants	32
	Power Analysis	
	Recruitment Strategy	
	Sample	
	Measures	35
	Eligibility Assessment Surveys	
	Demographics Questionnaire	
	Life Events Checklist Experimental Survey Battery	
	Demographics Questionnaire	
	PTSD Checklist for DSM-5	
	Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale	
	Self-Compassion Scale	
	Attention Check Items	
	Procedure	38
	Analytic Approach	
III.	RESULTS	40
IV.	DISCUSSION	
	Summary of Present Outcomes	
	Construct Overlap of ER and SC	
	Assessment Device Selection	47

Temporal Precedence of ER and SC	48
Applicability of ER and SC Across Type and Level of Psychopathology	50
Trauma Type Categorization on PTS Symptom Severity, ER, and SC	51
Impact of COVID-19 on PTS Symptom Severity	52
Strengths	
Limitations and Future Directions	
Sample Limitations and Future Directions	
Theoretical Limitations and Future Directions	
Methodological Limitations and Future Directions	
Conclusion	58
REFERENCES	60
APPENDICIES	107
A. Eligibility Questionnaire	107
B. Life Events Checklist	108
C. Demographics Questionnaire	111
D. PTSD Checklist for DSM-5	114
E. Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale	115
F. Self-Compassion Scale	118
G. Attention Check Items	

LIST OF TABLES AND FIGURES

Table 1. Participant Characteristics	34
Table 2. Descriptive Statistics of Study Variables	41
Table 3. Bivariate Correlations for Study Variables	42
Table 4. Hierarchical Regression Analysis for Variables Predicting Posttraumatic Stress	
Symptoms	43

Relation of Emotion Regulation Difficulties, Self-Compassion, and Posttraumatic Stress Symptoms

Potentially traumatic events (PTEs) are upsetting or life-threatening experiences that include direct exposure to, or witness of, an event that may lead to psychiatric symptoms such as irritable behavior, hypervigilance, and sleep problems (American Psychiatric Association [APA], 2013). Indeed, such exposure can lead to clinically relevant problems in the form of posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD), a psychiatric diagnosis defined by the presence of symptoms lasting 30 days or more following exposure to a PTE that are demarcated into four clusters: re-experiencing (e.g., intrusive memories, nightmares); avoidance (e.g., thoughts, situations); negative alterations in cognition and mood (e.g., guilt, feeling cut off from others); and hyperarousal (e.g., hypervigilance, heightened startle reaction; APA, 2013). Prevalence rates of PTE exposure and resulting traumatic stress symptoms are climbing (Kennell & Associates, 2013). In the U.S., up to 70% of adults report exposure to at least one PTE during their lifetime, many of whom report exposure to more than one event (Benjet et al., 2015). College students also experience high rates of PTE exposure. Approximately 23% of college students report exposure to a PTE by the end of their freshmen year (Reed et al., 2011), with many reporting multiple PTE exposures (Banyard & Cantor, 2004), which seems to lead to rapid development of trauma related psychopathology. Indeed, college students report higher rates of symptoms consistent with diagnosable PTSD relative to the general population (Boyraz et al., 2016; Kilpatrick et al., 2013; Reed et al., 2011).

PTE exposure is associated with several community- and individual-level negative outcomes. Generally, PTE exposure is related to poor physical health and high healthcare expenditures, with estimates suggesting more than \$4 billion are spent each year on healthcare

costs related to the experience of PTEs (Breslau et al., 1998; Brunellos et al., 2001; Kessler & Frank, 1997). Within college student populations, PTE exposure has been linked to various forms of ineffective behavior (e.g., impulsive behaviors; poor attendance), as well as poor academic outcomes including poor interpersonal functioning and high drop-out rates (Baker et al., 2016; Boyraz et al., 2013; Kennell & Associates, 2013). Consequentially, the study of PTE exposure within the college student population appears particularly important to study.

Though causes of the high frequency PTE exposure among college students are unclear, it may be the result of behavioral expressions of underdeveloped brain structure. For example, research suggests college-aged individuals experience pruning of the prefrontal and parietal cortices, which, when complete, attenuates the impulsive behavior and poor planning with which these brain structures are associated (Romer, 2010). These qualities of an underdeveloped brain may lead to high rates of risky decisions in college student populations, such as excessive substance use that may, in turn, exacerbate existing impulsivity and ineffective decision making, thus leading to rates of high PTE exposure (Arterberry et al., 2019; Elhai & Simons, 2007; Radomski et al., 2016).

Such factors may also underlie the maintenance of psychiatric problems following exposure to PTEs. For example, substance use appears to function as an avoidant coping mechanism that can exasperate problems following exposure to PTEs, suggesting a bi-directional relation to which college students may be particularly susceptible, given higher rates of avoidance behavior reported by students relative to other populations (Arterberry et al., 2019). Yet, to date, direct methods of modifying brain structure have not been identified, limiting the clinical utility of neurobiological investigations. Accordingly, the present study aimed to identify related, though more malleable, factors associated with posttraumatic stress (PTS) among college

students when PTE exposure does occur. One such characteristic that has received attention from researchers is emotion regulation (ER) difficulties.

ER difficulties are defined herein as the inability to maintain present moment awareness, understanding, and acceptance of unwanted private experiences, and engaging in impulsive behaviors that are incongruent with one's valued aims and incompatible with current environmental contingencies (Gratz & Roemer, 2004). Thus, ER difficulties may be one behavioral expression of neurobiological correlates of impulsive and disorganized behavior underlying PTE exposure and subsequent PTS symptoms. Though prospective research is lacking, high ER difficulties appear associated with, and may be a potential risk factor for, risky behavior such as substance use and risky sexual behavior (Weiss et al., 2015). This association appears strong within college student populations (Barker et al., 2015; Gratz et al., 2015, 2016; Rosenstein et al., 2018; Soler et al., 2016; Tull et al., 2011a) and may be once cause of the elevated likelihood of experiencing a PTE reported for college students (Reed et al., 2009). Moreover, ER difficulties are related to high PTS symptom severity and the presence of a PTSD diagnosis following exposure to PTEs (Tull et al., 2007a). Individuals who report high PTS also indicate problems in key aspects of ER, including difficulty deploying contextually sensitive ER strategies (Tull et al., 2020), likely due to low present moment awareness and overreliance on avoidant coping strategies (Tull et al., 2007a), which may lead to difficulty engaging in goaldirected behavior (Shepherd & Wild, 2014; Tull et al., 2007a). In sum, ER difficulties appear to contribute to PTS symptom severity as both a risk factor for experiencing a PTE and as an exacerbating factor in the development of more severe PTS symptoms.

Though evidence suggests a relation of high ER difficulties and elevated PTS symptom severity following PTE exposure, a considerable amount of variance in PTS symptom severity

remains unexplained after accounting for this association (e.g., Bonn-Miller et al., 2011; Kashdan et al., 2006; Tull et al., 2007a; Tull et al., 2012; Tull et al., 2016; Vujanovic et al., 2010). This is problematic given the numerous negative outcomes and unfavorable impacts on college student quality of life. Delineation of variables that may further account for PTS symptom severity that follows PTE exposure may clarify malleable factors that mitigate PTS development and associated negative outcomes. As such, the present study aimed to identify a construct that accounted for symptom severity variance following PTE exposure after accounting for ER difficulties. As discussed in detail below, it was posited that self-compassion (SC) may be one such construct.

SC is defined as extending kindness toward oneself during times of perceived failure (Neff, 2003a). Low SC appears detrimental for individuals who have experienced PTE exposure. For instance, low (vs. high) SC is associated with higher overall PTS symptom severity (Kearney et al., 2011), as well as overreliance on avoidant coping strategies (Thompson & Waltz, 2008), one maintaining factor of PTSD (Tull et al., 2007a). Low SC is also related to high self-reported guilt (Davis et al., 1996), suggesting SC may be a risk factor for individuals with PTS. For instance, individuals exposed to a PTE often develop negative cognitive patterns regarding themselves and the world (e.g., "The world is a dangerous place"; "I am a bad person"; the event was "My fault"), which may exacerbate feelings of guilt and self-blame. High SC may counteract feelings of guilt that perpetuate PTS symptom severity. Though research is limited, evidence suggests younger individuals report lower levels of SC relative to the general population (e.g., Hwang et al., 2016). This further suggests college students are a population whereby understanding the relation of PTS, ER, and SC is warranted.

The discussion of literature below will demonstrate that ER processes, specifically difficulties in the identification and deployment of ER-oriented behavioral strategies, are related to broad-based behavioral functioning, including PTS symptom severity. Yet, as introduced above and discussed below, even after accounting for ER difficulties, a considerable amount of variance in PTS symptom severity following PTE exposure remains unexplained. As such, SC will be identified as a variable likely to account for a significant amount of variance associated with ER difficulties and PTE exposure related distress. This discussion leads to the introduction of the present study, which aimed to a) clarify the relation of SC, ER, and PTS symptom severity and b) identify the PTS symptom severity variance accounted for by SC over and above ER difficulties in a sample of college students.

Posttraumatic Stress

Research suggests up to 70% of U.S. adults will be exposed to a PTE at least once, with approximately 30% exposed to four or more, during their lifetime (Benjet et al., 2015). The prevalence rates of PTE exposure, however, appear to vary among different populations (i.e., combat veterans, first responders, college students, general population). For example, combat veterans and first responders experience greater exposure to PTE's given the high-risk nature of their positions (e.g., repeated exposure; Cameron et al., 2019; Torchalla & Strehlau, 2017) relative to the general population. Notably, college students report especially high rates of PTE exposure, which includes the unexpected death of a loved one (i.e., illness, suicide, murder), physical or sexual assault, and life-threatening accidents (Elhai & Simons, 2007). Approximately 23% of undergraduate students report at least one PTE exposure by the completion of their freshmen year (Read et al., 2011) and among *all* college students, approximately 70% report PTE exposure (Cusack et al., 2018). It appears PTE exposure is occurring at high rates during the

formative years of college. Additionally, many students have been exposed to a PTE prior to beginning college, potentially leading to heightened vulnerability once in college (Finkelhor et al., 2016).

Of individuals exposed to a lifetime PTE, approximately 8.3% will experience symptoms of PTSD (Kilpatrick et al., 2013). This rate is higher among college students. Approximately 12% of college students exposed to a PTE report symptomology consistent with a PTSD diagnosis (Boyraz et al., 2016). The presence of a PTSD diagnosis, as well as sub-threshold PTS symptoms that follow PTE exposure, is associated with poor long- and short-term outcomes at the individual level. Such outcomes include disrupted occupational, social, and physical health problems, which likely contribute to reported low quality of life (Holowka & Marx, 2012; King et al., 2006; Kleykamp, 2013; Ophuis et al., 2018; Schnurr & Lunney, 2016; Vogt et al., 2016). Individuals with PTSD are less productive at work (Breslau, 2001; Breslau et al., 2004; Wald & Taylor, 2009) and miss more workdays than individuals without a psychiatric diagnosis (13.8 vs. 1.8 days per month, respectively; Breslau et al., 2004). They are also more likely to interpret social interactions as negative relative to individuals without PTSD, which, in turn, is related to poor interpersonal functioning and satisfaction (Kern et al., 2018). Presence of PTSD is also associated with high rates of migraine headaches and cardiovascular and metabolic disorders, among others (Boscarino, 2008; El-Gabalawy et al., 2018; Ryder et al., 2018; Vasterling et al., 2008). Likewise, individuals with subthreshold PTS demonstrate significantly greater workrelated errors (Baek et al., 2017), difficulties in family and peer relationships (Pietrzak et al., 2009), and experience increased risk of diabetes and the presence of pain, migraine headaches, and other physical health ailments (El-Gabalawy et al., 2018; Pacella et al., 2013) relative to individuals who report no PTS symptomology.

College students exposed to PTEs experience considerable adverse effects to their mental, physical, and academic functioning. For example, PTE exposure is related to high depression and anxiety symptoms among college students (Cusack et al., 2018), especially among those who experience interpersonal traumatic events (Overstreet et al., 2017). Traumatic experiences are also strongly correlated with physical health symptoms among undergraduate students (Goldsmith et al., 2012). For example, trauma experienced during childhood (i.e., physical, sexual, emotional, neglect) is significantly and positively related to the experience of physical health symptoms during the college years (Heshmati et al., 2021). Among college students, such physical health problems include headaches, gastrointestinal symptoms, sinus infections, and musculoskeletal pain (Boyraz & Waits, 2018). PTE exposure (versus no exposure) among college students is also related to higher dropout rates (Baker et al., 2016; Boyraz et al., 2013). Baker and colleagues (2016) reported that female students who experience two or more events of sexual violence are at greater risk for dropping out of college after four years relative to female students who reported no sexual violence (56% vs. 85% remained enrolled, respectively). Moreover, students with a PTSD diagnosis are significantly less likely to finish college than students without PTSD even after accounting for cognitive ability, family psychiatric history, and comorbid psychiatric symptoms (Vilaplana-Pérez, et al., 2020). As such, PTE exposure is related to broad negative outcomes for college students.

Collectively, annual societal costs associated with PTE exposure are significant. Epidemiological research suggests the US economy loses approximately \$4.4B annually due to PTSD related work impairments, such as missed workdays and decreased efficiency while at work (Breslau et al., 1998; Brunellos et al., 2001; Kessler & Frank, 1997). The Department of Defense expended approximately \$300 million on healthcare services for individuals diagnosed

with PTSD in 2012 (Kennell & Associates, 2013). Furthermore, the US economic burden of sexual assault-related trauma is estimated to be approximately \$133,000 total per victim, or \$3.3 trillion population-wide, which includes medical costs, victim property damage, criminal justice activities, and decreased work productivity (Peterson et al., 2017). PTS related costs appear to be increasing in academic settings as well. According to the Center for Collegiate Mental Health (CCMH, 2019), university counseling centers have experienced a 30–40% annual increase in the number of students seeking mental health services between 2009 and 2015. Though anxiety- and depression-related symptoms are the most prevalent psychiatric concerns reported by students (62.7% and 49.3%, respectively; CCMH, 2019), such problems may be exacerbated by exposure to PTEs (Cusack et al., 2018). As such, PTE exposure and resulting PTS symptoms is related to considerable negative societal costs.

In sum, PTE exposure and resultant PTS symptoms and PTSD diagnoses are highly prevalent and associated with numerous societal and personal costs. Moreover, these deleterious effects appear to extend to college student populations. Accordingly, clarification of behavioral constructs that account for variance in PTS-related distress following PTE exposure may inform the development of behavioral interventions that effectively enhance recovery from, and reduce personal and societal costs associated with, PTS symptoms. One body of research that may inform the specification of such variables is that of emotion and ER, which is reviewed below. First, emotion will be discussed broadly from a functional perspective, leading to the discussion of how emotion regulation operates in various contexts, including that of PTS symptoms.

Emotion and Emotion Regulation

Emoting is a behavior defined as synchronized changes in organismic states in response to internal and external stimuli (Scherer, 1987) that result in the subjective experience of having

an emotion. Research has suggested four components that are associated with all emotions: cognition; behavior; affect; and physiology experienced prior to, during, and/or after exposure to environmental stimuli (Kleinginna & Kleinginna, 1981; Lench et al., 2011; Scherer, 1987; Tyng et al., 2017). To illustrate these components, the example of an individual attending a theme park will be used.

The cognition component encompasses experienced cognitive evaluations and interpretations. For example, an individual may learn to cognitively relate theme parks and fun experiences through verbal rules (e.g., being told 'theme parks are fun') or direct exposure to theme park related stimuli that was previously paired with positive experiences (e.g., flashing lights, crowds, and bright colors; Hayes et al., 2001). Cognitive relations acquired through this learning history, including evaluations and interpretations of both external and internal stimuli, will increase the likelihood the individual will experience pleasant emotion when walking through the theme park front gate. The behavior component encompasses overt bodily actions (e.g., facial, postural, vocal). An individual at a theme park may express an open-mouthed smile, contraction of the muscles around the eyes, and express themselves vocally by laughing (Campos et al., 2013; Van Cappellen, 2019). The affect component encompasses experienced affect, defined as a simple, broad, long-lasting psychophysiological state (e.g., feeling good or bad) that contributes to the experience of a felt emotion, which is often short-lived relative to affect (Clore & Ortony, 2008; Russell, 2009). For example, an individual who attends a theme park may experience positive affect while there. When riding a rollercoaster, they may have a more temporary *emotional* experience of exhilaration or joy. Finally, the physiology component encompasses autonomic bodily changes (e.g., altered heart rate, blood sugar level, pupil dilation, etc.). Following our example, the individual riding the rollercoaster may experience increased

electrodermal conductance (i.e., electrical conductance of skin that is increased when one perspires; Wickramasuriya & Faghih, 2020) and respiration rate. Beyond defining emotion, researchers are clarifying the function of emotions, which I turn to next.

Function of Emotion

Emotions are context specific, enhance individuals' ability to behave effectively given encountered environmental opportunities and difficulties, and are related to positive outcomes such as quality of life and good physical health (Brackett & Salovey, 2004; Frijda, 1986; John & Gross, 2004; Oatley & Jenkins, 1992; Scherer, 1987). Emotion appears to be particularly influential in three areas of life: interpersonal, intrapersonal, and social (Hwang & Matsumoto, 2019). Interpersonally, emotion may be functional in terms of how individuals interact between one another, especially when an individual seeks to appear likeable and accepted (Leary, 2015). For example, an individual at a dinner party may approach another guest and smile, thus expressing positive emotion that may signal to the other guest that they want to engage in conversation. These behaviors will likely enhance the probability of a pleasant and effective interpersonal interaction. Intrapersonally, emotions appear to support responses to environmental contingencies (Tooby & Cosmides, 2008). Tasting spoiled food at a dinner party occasions the emotion of disgust that, in turn, increases the likelihood the individual will, quickly and without much thought or effort, expel the food from their mouth. Socially, emotion can provide feedback regarding one's behavior and social status, thus influencing subsequent behavior. The individual at the dinner party who expressed disgust towards the provided food may make a comment to the host about disliking the food. In turn, the guest may receive negative feedback from the host if the comment was rude in nature, thus leading to the experience of guilt about having made the

comment. This emotion may increase the likelihood the guest will engage in reparative behavior (e.g., apologizing or complimenting the host; Tangney et al., 1996).

Yet, poorly controlled emotion may also increase the likelihood of experiencing unwanted outcomes such as psychopathology and life problems (Hayes et al., 1996; Mennin et al., 2006; Mennin & Farach, 2007). For example, fear, typically elicited by perceived environmental danger or threat cues (Cisler et al., 2010), is associated with several common responses: efforts to reason or problem solve (i.e., cognitive); fight, flee, or freeze responses (i.e., behavioral); subjective experiences of negative affect (i.e., affective); and increased heart rate, muscle tension, and sweating (i.e., physiological; Cannon, 1932; Garfinkel & Critchley, 2016; Norrholm & Jovanovic, 2018). An individual who experiences fear when driving over long bridges may experience a variety of responses. When lacking ability to regulate fear, the individual may become overwhelmed and engage in ineffective behavior. They may try to reason with themselves or others about the benefits of taking a longer route that does not cross over a bridge, or they may flee the situation, perhaps by exiting the freeway as they approach the bridge. These behaviors may decrease quality of life by impairing progress towards important values-congruent goals, such as timely arrival to work or a desired social engagement. As such, emotions can lead to dysfunction due to an individual's inability to regulate emotions. Accordingly, research suggests the inability to regulate emotions, as outlined below, is a cardinal feature of several psychiatric disorders, including PTSD.

Emotion Regulation

Researchers have recently directed efforts toward understanding how individuals' ability to regulate emotional experiences may contribute to the formation, maintenance, and recovery from psychopathology (Barlow et al., 2004; Gross & Jazaieri, 2014; Kring & Werner, 2004).

Two conceptualizations of ER currently dominate the psychological literature. The first, termed the Process Model, largely defines ER in terms of cognitive processes (Gross, 1998, 2015; McRae & Gross, 2020). This definition highlights cognition as the primary factor that shapes subjective experience of emotion (Ford & Gross, 2018; Gross, 1998) and suggests regulation of emotion is best conceptualized as time-limited behaviors (i.e., ER strategies) used to modify or control emotional experience or resultant behavioral expression (Gross, 1998). This model specifies two categories of ER strategies: antecedent-focused and response-focused. Antecedentfocused ER is defined as behavioral attempts to manipulate input to the system during emotion generation. Antecedent-focused strategies include the selection or modification of the situation (e.g., avoiding walking outside late at night due to fear of being sexually assaulted), deployment of attention (e.g., narrowly attending to individuals who may resemble a sexual assault assailant), and cognitive change (e.g., reframing the experience of seeing someone who may resemble an assailant as less threatening). Response-focused ER is defined as cognitive efforts to counteract emotional responses that follow emotion generation by suppressing emotional urges (e.g., 'bottling up', denying, or avoiding emotions, or expressive suppression such as binge drinking) or modulating overt behavioral responses (e.g., attempts to de-amplify anger by going for a walk; Koechlin et al., 2018). In both suppression and modulation, ER strategies appear to be directed towards the decrease of expressive behaviors in order to lessen the negative impact of the situation on emotional experiences (Gross, 2002; Purnamaningsih, 2017).

The second model of ER, which I will term the functional model of ER, highlights the functional nature of emotions, as well as the context in which they occur, when defining and evaluating the effectiveness of ER processes and related behavioral strategies. Accordingly, the functional model does not define ER as emotional control per se. Rather, ER is defined as several

specific skills, which include "a) awareness and understanding of emotions, b) acceptance of emotions, c) ability to control impulsive behaviors and behave in accordance with desired goals when experiencing negative emotions, [and] d) ability to use situationally appropriate ER strategies flexibly to modulate emotional responses in order to meet individual goals and situational demands" (Gratz & Roemer, 2004, pp. 42–43). Each of these ER skills are discussed below.

Awareness and Clarity versus Lack of Attending to Emotion

Emotional awareness is a multidimensional construct defined as an individual's ability to be aware of and describe the emotional experience of the self and others (Gratz & Roemer, 2004). Separate from emotional awareness is emotional understanding (i.e., clarity), which is defined as "the extent to which individuals know (and are clear about) the emotions they are experiencing" (Gratz & Roemer, 2004, p. 47). Both awareness and clarity of emotional experiences appear useful as ER skills. Extant research suggests present moment awareness is advantageous, particularly in the presence of unwanted emotions or private experiences (Cardaciotto et al., 2008; Donald et al., 2016). For example, evidence suggests emotional awareness is related to low deviant behavior and drug use (Mayer et al., 2004). Moreover, broadbased present moment awareness (i.e., mindfulness) is related to high psychological flexibility (Adele & Feldman, 2004), compassion for others (Fulton, 2005), work productivity (e.g., task performance; Dane, 2010), and engagement in health promoting behavior (Murphy et al., 2012), as well as good physical health outcomes (Glomb et al., 2011). Furthermore, the integration of mindfulness-oriented strategies (including both emotional awareness and clarity) into psychosocial interventions is related to decreased anxiety, depression, and PTS symptom severity, as well as increased quality of life (Beauchemin et al., 2008; Boden et al., 2012;

Greeson et al., 2015; Kearney et al., 2011; Klainin-Yobas et al., 2012; Smith et al., 2011; Vujanovic et al., 2011).

Conversely, low levels of attending to and clarity of emotion appear associated with the presence of psychiatric disorders such as major depressive disorder (Donges et al., 2005; Weissman et al., 2020) and PTSD (Frewen et al., 2008a; Pugach et al., 2019). Individuals with generalized anxiety disorder (Mennin et al., 2005) and symptoms of uncued panic attacks (Tull & Roemer, 2007) report low levels of emotional clarity. Difficulties with emotional awareness are also related to physical health problems. Chronic pain patients who report low attending to the present moment also, perhaps paradoxically, report high presence and intensity of physical pain (Burger et al., 2016). Yet, research also indicates excessive attention to emotional experience is associated with elevated anxiety symptoms (Britton, 2019; Eisenlohr-Moul et al., 2012; Sahdra et al., 2017) and low emotional clarity among individuals with panic disorder (Baker et al., 2004), which suggests additional ER skills may be required to support effective functioning when one is faced with distressing emotional experiences.

Acceptance versus Avoidance of Emotion

Acceptance is defined as the intentional embrace of unwanted private experiences, without engaging in behaviors that seek to control or eliminate these experiences, when such behaviors are unhelpful in achieving one's aims (Hayes et al., 1996). Acceptance of emotional experiences appears necessary for effective responding in the context of unwanted or negative emotional experiences. Research indicates acceptance of emotion is related to higher psychological health, including decreases in anxiety and depression symptoms, relative to individuals who avoid private experiences (Baer et al., 2008; Danitz et al., 2016; Ford et al., 2018). Acceptance of emotions is also related to high quality of life in the context of anxiety,

anorexia nervosa, and stress (Eustis et al., 2016; Nyklíček & Kuijpers, 2008; Wildes & Marcus, 2010). Indeed, research evaluating the effectiveness of acceptance-based behavioral therapies provides evidence of the beneficial effects of employing acceptance across a range of psychiatric disorders. Engagement in therapeutic packages that emphasize acceptance as a core clinical target, such as acceptance and commitment therapy (Hayes et al., 2012) and dialectical behavior therapy (Linehan, 2013), appears to lead to symptom reduction and improved quality of life for individuals with anxiety, mood, personality, eating, trauma-related, and substance use disorders (Gratz & Gunderson, 2006; Howell & Passmore, 2019; Kelson et al., 2019; Lang et al., 2017; Lee & Song, 2018; Li et al., 2019; Linardon et al., 2018; Morton et al., 2012; Roemer & Orsillo, 2010; Roemer et al., 2008; Steil et al., 2018; Twohig & Levin, 2017), as well as those who struggle with ineffective health behaviors and chronic pain (Hughes et al., 2017; Simpson et al., 2017). Moreover, acceptance appears to mediate good outcomes that follow provision of acceptance-based treatments. Acceptance accounts for the effects of treatment on experienced pain, unhelpful pain-related cognition, and physical functioning in samples of chronic pain patients (Cederberg et al., 2015; Ravn et al., 2017). In sum, acceptance of private emotional experiences appears related to engagement in behaviors that lead to high quality of life.

Conversely, emotional avoidance (i.e., behavioral attempts to reduce both positive and negative emotions; Feldner et al., 2003) is related to the development and exacerbation of psychological suffering (Bardeen et al., 2013a; Kashdan et al., 2006). Research suggests efforts directed towards emotional control and avoidance of internal experiences underlie many psychiatric disorders (Fledderus et al., 2010; Hayes et al., 1996; Kashdan et al., 2006; Spinhoven et al., 2015; Taylor et al., 2004; Wheaton & Pinto, 2017) and is related to higher levels of anxiety relative to individuals who engage in acceptance of emotion (Bardeen et al., 2013a). Avoidance

also appears to mediate the relation of beliefs about emotions and depression and anxiety symptoms, such as worry, irritability, and fatigue (Sydenham et al., 2016). In sum, research suggests directed efforts towards avoiding unwanted private experiences are related to increased psychopathological symptoms, which may deter individuals from directing efforts towards behaviors that are congruent to one's personally chosen values.

Goal Directed versus Impulsive Behavior

The functional model of ER also posits one's ability to inhibit impulsive behaviors and engage in goal-congruent behaviors when experiencing unwanted private experiences is an indicator of good ER (Gratz & Roemer, 2004; Malesza, 2019; Tull & Gratz, 2008). Goal-directed behavior is defined as behavior oriented towards meeting the needs of the individual and situation (Gratz & Roemer, 2004). Notably, both emotional awareness and acceptance are related to effective goal-related behavior. Engagement in an intervention that emphasizes acceptance of unwanted thoughts and feelings is associated with higher goal directed behavior relative to individuals who do not practice acceptance (Goodman et al., 2014). Moreover, acceptance-based interventions used in workplace settings appear effective for increasing goal directed behavior (i.e., increased work performance, decreased work-related errors) and reducing employee stress (Moran, 2011). In sum, research suggests engaging in goal-directed behaviors, particularly in the presence of unwanted private experiences, may contribute to overall good quality of life.

Despite positive outcomes associated with goal directed behavior, many individuals struggle to engage in such behavior when experiencing emotional distress. Researchers indicate failure to engage in behaviors that align with one's personally chosen goals or values, often referred to as impulsive or disorganized behavior (Hayes et al., 1999), is related to low quality of life and high psychiatric problems (Chamberlain & Grant, 2019; Seligowski et al., 2014). Value

incongruent or impulsive behavior is related to presence of an obsessive-compulsive disorder diagnosis (Gillan et al., 2011), high depression symptomology (Chase et al., 2018; Fritzsche et al., 2016), purging behavior (Pisetsky et al., 2017), and suicide risk (Ghorbani et al., 2017). Drug and alcohol problems, which some researchers suggest may be an indication of ER ability deficits (Dvorak et al., 2014), are also associated with low frequency of goal-directed behavior (Fox et al., 2008; Greenberg et al., 2016; Lanesman et al., 2019; Morrell et al., 2010; Verdejo-García et al., 2008). Finally, individuals with borderline personality disorder, in which ER deficits are a primary presenting feature, report difficulty engaging in goal-directed behavior when experiencing unwanted or unpleasant emotion, which often manifests as substance misuse, self-harm, and risky sexual behavior (Barker et al., 2015; Gratz et al., 2015; Gratz et al., 2016; Rosenstein et al., 2018; Soler et al., 2016; Tull et al., 2011a). Collectively, research suggests individuals experiencing emotional distress have difficulty responding in contextually appropriate ways and may benefit from the establishment of more flexible behavioral patterns.

Flexible versus Inflexible Use of ER Strategies

The flexible use of ER entails willingness to use relevant ER strategies to modulate behavioral responses that support progress towards individual goals or desires in the context of situational demands (Gratz & Roemer, 2004). Researchers have recommended considering the demands of the situation and goals of the individual when assessing the effectiveness of ER strategy selection and deployment (Gratz & Roemer, 2004; Ma et al., 2018; Thompson, 1994; Thompson & Calkins, 1996). For example, psychological flexibility, a construct closely aligned with ER and defined as engaging in personally chosen present moment value-guided behaviors despite the presence of unwanted thoughts, feelings, or bodily sensations (Hayes et al., 1996), is associated with good outcomes. Cross-sectional research investigating the relation of

psychological flexibility and psychiatric symptomology suggests high psychological flexibility is related to low anxiety, depression, and somatization symptoms among college students (Masuda & Tully, 2012). Increasing psychological flexibility appears to be helpful for decreasing avoidance of private experiences among individuals with anxiety and depression symptoms and may predict less distress and better treatment outcomes relative to individuals with inflexible use of ER strategies (Berking et al., 2009; Dalrymple & Herbert, 2007). Moreover, longitudinal research suggests flexible and contextually sensitive ER strategy deployment is related to positive outcomes including increased quality of life after six months (Densham et al., 2016).

Notably, some research supports the effectiveness of control and change-oriented ER strategy use, as delineated in the process model of ER, thus highlighting the benefit of flexible deployment of ER strategies. For example, reappraisal (e.g., assigning a different meaning to a distressing emotional experience to lessen the psychological impact) is a common ER strategy deployed in the service of down-regulation of emotion (Brockman et al., 2016; Dixon et al., 2019; Gross, 2002). Research suggests such control-oriented strategies are effective in modifying emotional experiences (Goldin & Gross, 2010). Yet, excessive and inflexible use of control and change-oriented ER strategies is related to negative outcomes, including heightened negative affect (Machell et al., 2014) and general emotional distress (Bardeen et al., 2014). Additionally, lack of contextual consideration, combined with excessive efforts to control or modulate emotional experiences, leads to a variety of negative outcomes that include the development and maintenance of psychiatric symptoms and disorders (Fitzpatrick et al., 2016; Greenberg, 2002; Mennin et al., 2006; Schnell & Herpertz, 2018). For example, eating (Gianini et al., 2013; Haynos et al., 2018; Svaldi et al., 2012), anxiety (Aldao & Nolen-Hoeksema, 2012; McLaughlin et al., 2011), and mood disorders (Joormann & Gotlib, 2010; Mkrtchian et al., 2017; Rude &

McCarthy, 2003) are related to inflexible use of ER strategies. Moreover, researchers have identified associations of ER difficulties and PTS symptom severity, which are reviewed below.

ER and PTSD

Effective use of ER strategies appears inversely related to dysfunction in PTSD symptom clusters, presence of a PTSD diagnosis, and sub-threshold PTS symptoms following PTE exposure (Bardeen et al., 2013b; Bonn-Miller et al., 2011; Ehring & Quack, 2010; Tull et al., 2007a; Weiss et al., 2013a; Weiss et al., 2013b), as well as positively correlated with overall adaptive functioning (Cloitre et al., 2005). Broadly speaking, high ER difficulties appear related to high PTSD symptom severity relative to low ER difficulties (Bonn-Miller et al., 2011; Ehring & Quack, 2010; Kashdan et al., 2006; Tull et al., 2007a; Vujanovic et al., 2010). High awareness and clarity of private experiences is related to high goal-directed behavior among PTE exposed individuals (O'Bryan et al., 2017). Conversely, low emotional awareness appears to be a risk factor for the development of PTSD symptoms among PTE exposed individuals (Viana et al., 2018). Low emotional awareness is also related to the presence of a PTSD diagnosis, high total PTSD symptom severity, and high re-experiencing, avoidance, and arousal symptoms (Cloitre et al., 1997; Ehring & Quack, 2010; Frewen et al., 2008b; McLean et al., 2006; Tripp & McDevitt-Murphy, 2015).

Trauma survivors report difficulties tolerating (i.e., accepting) and regulating unwanted emotions (Briere & Richards, 2007), as well as high avoidant (Batten et al., 2002; Marx & Sloan, 2002; Tull et al., 2020; Walsh et al., 2010) and disorganized behavior, such as aggressive (Tull et al., 2007b) and risky sexual behavior (Cavanaugh et al., 2009; Reisner et al., 2009; Weiss et al., 2019). Emotional avoidance is also related to PTSD-associated problems. Research indicates emotional avoidance partially accounts for the relation of elevated PTSD symptom severity and

high worry (Tull et al., 2011b). Notably, after controlling for PTS symptom severity, high emotional avoidance is associated with elevated symptoms of depression and anxiety relative to low emotional avoidance (Tull et al., 2004). This research suggests emotional avoidance may exacerbate psychopathology above and beyond PTS symptom severity. Additionally, longitudinal research indicates high avoidance and low social support predict depression symptoms among individuals exposed to a PTE at 12-month follow-up assessments (Forbes et al., 2020). Furthermore, individuals diagnosed with PTSD struggle to maintain consistent goal directed behavior and often engage in impulsive acts associated with high ER difficulties (e.g., substance use; Grant & Potenza, 2012; Tripp et al., 2015; Tull et al., 2012; Tull et al., 2016; Veilleux et al., 2014; Weiss et al., 2012; Weiss et al., 2013a). Experimental research suggests individuals exposed to PTEs who inflexibly select ER strategies irrespective of situational demands report higher PTSD symptom severity relative to individuals who flexibly select ER strategies (Levy-Gigi et al., 2015).

Collectively, ER difficulties are related to poor physical health, social and occupational functioning, and quality of life, as well as high psychiatric symptomology across a range of diagnoses, including PTSD and high PTS symptom severity following PTE exposure. Indeed, individuals with elevated PTS struggle to deploy effective ER strategies when needed (Tull et al., 2020), often rely on potentially problematic excessive use of avoidance strategies, and have difficulty managing impulsive and otherwise disorganized behavior, and engaging in goal-directed behaviors (Shepherd & Wild, 2014; Tull et al., 2007a). Yet, research also indicates significant variance in PTS symptom severity remains after accounting for ER difficulties (e.g., Bonn-Miller et al., 2011; Kashdan et al., 2006; Tull et al., 2007a; Tull et al., 2012; Tull et al., 2016; Vujanovic et al., 2010), suggesting a need for elucidation of additional factors that may

buffer against negative sequelae of PTE exposure. SC may be one construct that accounts for PTS symptom severity above and beyond that of ER.

Self-Compassion

Compassion is defined as responding with kindness, common humanity, and mindfulness, in a non-judgmental way, toward the troubles and adversities of others (Pommier et al., 2019). SC is compassion focused inward (Germer & Neff, 2013) and has been theorized in terms of three components (Neff, 2003a, 2003b; Neff et al., 2007). First is self-kindness, which is defined as being gentle towards oneself when experiencing pain. For example, when one makes an error or experiences failure, an individual with high SC will often treat themselves with kindness, such as they would a child or friend. Conversely, an individual with low SC may resort to self-deprecation or self-judgement, possibly by shifting their attention from themselves to others in unhelpful comparisons.

Second is common humanity, which is defined as seeing personal sorrow or inadequacies as part of the greater human experience, by remembering one is not unaccompanied in their hardships. For example, when one experiences rejection from a social group, an individual with high SC will tend to accept the painful experience as part of the larger human condition.

Conversely, an individual with low SC may isolate themselves and resort to seeing themselves as alone in their suffering.

Third is mindfulness, defined as having a stable attitude to one's unwanted private experiences, perhaps by simply noticing one's surroundings, feelings, thoughts, and sensations. For example, one may be met with unwanted thoughts about an intimate relationship. When faced with such thoughts, individuals who have high SC tend to maintain a balanced approach (i.e., neither avoiding nor catastrophizing) to unwanted emotions, perhaps by holding them in

mindful awareness, free of judgment. Conversely, an individual with low SC may become overwhelmed by such unwanted private experiences and suppress or exaggerate their feelings. As such, SC is conceptualized as a way of relating to the self and one's private experiences, in which painful or distressing feelings are not avoided but are instead held in awareness with kindness, a sense of shared humanity, and understanding.

SC is one strategy that may be useful for individuals who experience ER difficulties and PTS symptomology. Research suggests SC may support effective ER skills, including emotional clarity, willingness to experience, and acceptance of unwanted emotional experiences, specifically among college students. High SC is associated with high emotional awareness, high personal forgiveness, and low avoidance of painful or unwanted experiences (Leary et al., 2007; Neff, 2003b; Neff et al., 2007; Zhang & Chen, 2016). In addition, research suggests high SC is associated with effective control over impulsive behavior during stressful situations. For example, in the context of high worry, individuals with low SC reported elevated rates of impulsive behaviors (Mantzios, 2014), whereas individuals with high SC engage in behaviors congruent with personally chosen values (Finlay-Jones et al., 2015). Moreover, individuals who engage in compassion training are more willing to experience unwanted emotional experiences without judgment or intent of influencing them (Jazaieri et al., 2017), relative to individuals do not engage in compassion training. Collectively, this evidence suggests good SC may be a necessary pre-condition of effective ER skill deployment and, as such, may account for additional variance in outcomes beyond that of ER.

High SC also appears related to low psychopathology and associated problems. Metaanalysis suggests low SC is inversely related to depression, anxiety, and stress symptoms in both clinical and non-clinical samples (Macbeth & Gumley, 2012). Furthermore, SC is related to low rumination and worry, suggesting SC may buffer the association of general negative affect and anxiety and depression symptomology (Raes, 2010). Research also suggests SC may promote helpful mood regulation in extremely depressed samples (Diedrich et al., 2014), more so than acceptance or reappraisal strategies. Researchers investigating the effect of SC and acceptance strategies among depressed individuals found those in the SC group reported greater decreases in low mood than individuals in the acceptance group (Ehret et al., 2018), suggesting SC may account for variance in the relation of psychopathology and ER. Moreover, this research highlights theoretical postulates that acceptance of unwanted emotions is an incomplete implementation of SC, in that acceptance of emotions alone may not be an effective ER strategy. Rather, the combination of acceptance, self-kindness, and mindfulness appears necessary for positive change (Neff, 2003a).

SC and PTSD

Researchers have dedicated considerable resources to the investigation of the relation of SC and PTS symptom severity in clinical and non-clinical PTSD samples, leading to the general conclusion that low SC is detrimental in the context of PTE exposure. For example, low SC is related to high overall and avoidance-related PTSD symptom severity (Kearney et al., 2011; Thompson & Waltz, 2008). Indeed, research suggests low SC is related to overuse of avoidance strategies, and this relation appears to be maintained in the context of PTS. Cross-sectional research investigating the relation of PTS symptom severity and alcohol use in a sample of military veterans suggests SC accounts for the relation of PTS and alcohol misuse (Forkus et al., 2019). Low SC is also related to high guilt and self-blame (Davis et al., 1996), leading researchers to suggest SC may be a useful therapeutic target when treatment goals include increasing positive, and decreasing negative, views of the self (Neff & McGehee, 2010).

Research investigating SC as a predictor of PTS symptom severity suggests baseline SC predicts PTSD symptom severity 12-months later (Hiraoka et al., 2015). Moreover, engagement in psychosocial interventions that include components aimed at decreasing self-judgment, isolation, and over-identification, and increasing self-kindness, appear helpful as evidenced by decreased PTS symptom severity among individuals with PTSD (Hoffart et al., 2015). Researchers investigating the effectiveness of a 12-week SC program among individuals exposed to PTEs reported decreased PTSD symptoms after treatment (Kearney et al., 2013). As such, enhancement of SC abilities may be a beneficial target for therapeutic interventions that aim to reduce PTS symptomology.

In sum, SC may assist in, and may be a necessary pre-condition of, effective deployment of ER strategies in the context of unwanted private experiences such as anxiety, depression, and PTS. SC is inversely related to self-criticism, depression, anxiety, rumination, and avoidance of emotional experiences, and is positively related to life satisfaction and social connectedness (Barnard & Curry, 2011; Leary et al., 2007; Macbeth & Gumley, 2012; Neff, 2003a; Neff & Vonk, 2009) in a variety of populations, including individuals exposed to PTEs. SC also appears to support effective ER strategy use, including increased emotional clarity, willingness to experience painful or unwanted emotions, acceptance, and decreased impulsive behaviors. Researchers have recently attempted to leverage these known positive associations of SC to support effective ER strategy use among individuals exposed to PTEs, yet no research has identified the role SC may have in the ER-PTS relation. Thus, the present study aimed to a) clarify the relation of SC, ER, and PTS symptom severity and b) identify the PTS symptom severity variance accounted for by SC over and above ER difficulties.

Emotion Regulation, Self-Compassion, and Posttraumatic Stress

As reviewed above, high ER and SC appear related to symptom remittance among PTE exposed individuals. However, research is mixed regarding the specific role of ER and SC in this context. In the paragraphs below, theoretical considerations regarding how and why ER and SC may influence responses to PTE exposure, organized by PTSD symptom cluster (i.e., exposure to a PTE; intrusion; avoidance; negative alterations in cognition and mood; and altered arousal and reactivity), will be delineated. Though many processes of ER and SC are likely relevant across symptom clusters, the following discussion with highlight processes that appear particularly useful to consider within each PTSD symptom cluster. In so doing, unique and shared aspects in the function of ER and SC to PTE exposure and PTS symptom severity will be clarified.

For example, college parties are common on college campuses and typically offer opportunities to make new friends, gain social status, and experiment with alcohol or other substances, yet are also a prime setting in which PTE exposure may occur. As previously noted, college-aged individuals experience rapid brain development, particularly in the prefrontal and parietal cortices. Low ER may be a behavioral manifestation of this still emerging developmental process. For example, impulsive behavior is associated with underdeveloped prefrontal and parietal cortices and is a cardinal feature of ER difficulties (Romer, 2010). Underdeveloped brain structures also appear related to increased substance use and may inhibit one's ability to effectively process information and modulate behavior (Lubman et al., 2007). Moreover, evidence suggests low ER is associated with greater risk-taking behavior (e.g., binge drinking; Radomski et al., 2016) in social settings where PTEs are likely to occur. Though one must be careful not to excuse behavior of a perpetrator nor blame a survivor, low ER manifested as impulsive and disorganized behavior may set the occasion for over-intoxication, possibly leading

an individual to commit sexual violence against another student or impairing a potential victim from effectively guarding against such events. Consequently, low ER may directly and indirectly lead to elevated rates of PTE exposure in college student populations.

A common response to PTE exposure is the experience of distressing and intrusive experiences related to the event, such as recurring nightmares about the PTE, becoming overwhelmed by intrusive memories of the event during waking hours, or experiencing dissociative reactions. Low ER, specifically nonacceptance, awareness, and clarity facets, which largely overlap with the SC facet of mindfulness, may contribute to worsened intrusion symptoms. Low emotional acceptance may manifest as avoidance of, or attempts to suppress, unwanted thoughts. Paradoxically, such efforts are related to the development and maintenance of intrusive thoughts at a later time (Henschel et al., 2021), including the presence of nightmares. Low awareness may lead to lack of attention to thoughts deemed as distressing, up to the time that thoughts increase in intensity and capture the individual's attention, at which point they may appear intrusive (Hellerstedt et al., 2016; Takarangi et al., 2017). Moreover, low clarity may lead to difficulty differentiating the form or quality of emotion that arises in the context of intrusive thoughts when they are noticed, potentially enhancing experiences of distress, thus occasioning further avoidance behavior, such as dissociative experiences. In the context of excessive avoidance of unwanted private experiences, habituation to thoughts, memories, and other cognitive representations of the traumatic event is impaired (Foa & Rothbaum, 1998), which may provide a context for elevated distress and further avoidance behavior when such cognition is noticed. This interactive process may, ultimately, lead to the maintenance and exacerbation of intrusive experiences.

Low self-kindness, as defined in SC, may further complicate intrusive symptoms beyond the effects of ER. A common expression of low self-kindness is the adoption of negative judgments towards one's thoughts. If judgement is extended toward thoughts and the self, such that a thought is labeled 'bad' or the individual views themselves as 'bad' for having such thoughts, the mere presence of unwanted thoughts may lead to elevated distress. As described above, this distress could increase the likelihood of various forms of avoidance behavior, thus leading to a lack of habituation and paradoxical increases in frequency or severity of intrusive experiences. Alternatively, willingness to approach one's unwanted thoughts with openness, curiosity, and kindness towards the self may support efforts to engage in more adaptive and flexible responding when intrusion symptoms occur. As such, high ER and SC may buffer experiences of distress and engagement in avoidance behaviors that are likely to contribute to the onset and maintenance of intrusion symptoms.

Individuals often engage in emotional and behavioral avoidance following PTE exposure, which is theorized as an attempt to escape from distressing internal (e.g., thoughts and emotions) and external (e.g., people and places) reminders of the event (Feldner et al., 2003). Low ER, in the form of poor acceptance, appears to be particularly relevant in this context. For example, an individual who witnesses a mass shooting may try to avoid unwanted thoughts, memories, or physical locations that serve as reminders of the event. Low acceptance may occasion or increase the frequency or intensity of such efforts. For example, research indicates avoidant behavior is associated with low willingness to experience what one has without attempting to change the form or frequency of such experiences, whereas acceptance is associated with high willingness (Eifert & Heffner, 2003). Moreover, research indicates avoidance behavior limits immediately experienced distress, yet exacerbates traumatic stress symptomology over time (Bardeen, 2015).

Thus, nonacceptance and associated low willingness may influence increased avoidance behavior that is negatively reinforced in the short-term, at the expense of approach behavior that may lead to better long-term outcomes, including symptom reduction and increased quality of life.

Low self-kindness may further exacerbate avoidance symptoms. An examination of questionnaire items used to assess self-kindness suggests two overarching themes: self-care when distressed and tolerance toward undesirable aspects of the self. Limited self-care behavior in particular may be an establishing operation that increases the likelihood of unhelpful avoidance behavior when experiencing unwanted reminders of traumatic events (Li & Shun, 2016). For example, an individual who does not generally engage in self-care behaviors may be more attuned to short-term outcomes at the expense of long-term positive health behavior. Thus, such an individual may be more apt to avoid rather than approach unwanted thoughts, physical sensations, and emotions. The ineffectiveness of such actions (as described above) may exacerbate feelings of worthlessness and decrease overall tolerance toward distress. When such unwanted internal experiences return, an avoidance-related coping style, supported by low selfcare behavior, may further compound these problems. In sum, individuals who are generally nonaccepting and engage in limited self-care when distressed may experience greater difficulty tolerating short-term distress that is often associated with initial attempts to approach unwanted thoughts and feelings.

A third cluster of symptoms associated with PTE exposure is negative changes in cognition or mood. Cognitive beliefs may include thoughts such as the event is the survivor's fault or that other people or the world are inherently dangerous. The clarity component of ER may contribute to the formation of such cognitions. Difficulty differentiating emotional states is

associated with exacerbation of misinterpretations of trauma related distress broadly (Viana et al., 2018). Thus, a sexually assaulted individual who lacks emotional clarity may report higher occurrences of distorted cognitions regarding the causes of the negative event. These negative cognitions could further perpetuate inappropriate self-blame and interfere with attempts to flexibly choose contextually sensitive coping strategies such as value guided actions (Schmader & Lickel, 2006). Indeed, such mood alterations, including excessive shame and depression are common following PTE exposure. Beyond the potential indirect association by way of low emotional clarity and distorted cognitions, low engagement in goal-directed behavior may influence negative changes in mood (Lejuez et al., 2011). For example, a lack of intentional effort toward personally meaningful behavior that support goal achievement may lead an individual to experience elevated depressive symptomology, which could increase the likelihood that one will neglect meaningful relationships, further perpetuating negative moods.

Low levels of common humanity may intensify negative changes in cognition and mood. For example, low common humanity may lead to an inability to identify the good in others, thus influencing beliefs that all other people are dangerous. Likewise, difficulties evaluating negative mood states as a natural part of the recovery process that others also must traverse following a PTE may lead to increased self-blaming and low engagement in helpful approach or value guided behaviors. An inability to approach resultant coping failures as a shared experience may exacerbate avoidance of meaningful positive contingencies could cause a downward spiral of low mood, shame, and additional avoidance.

A final common response that follows PTE exposure is heightened arousal and behavioral reactivity, which can include an exaggerated startle response and reckless behavior.

Low strategies and impulse components of ER may be the most relevant variables in the context

of hyperarousal symptoms. For example, the presence of a feared stimuli may trigger an individual's sympathetic nervous system. Lack of available coping techniques, or difficulty implementing acquired strategies in the moment, may lead to elevated physiological arousal and exaggerated startle (O'Bryan et al., 2015). Moreover, difficulty deploying ER strategies could lead to efforts to reduce arousal through impulsive or reckless behavior. Indeed, a key feature of low ER is difficulty refraining from impulsive behavior in the context of negative emotion. Thus, an individual with low impulse control difficulties, combined with difficulty implementing effective emotion regulation strategies in the midst of hyperarousal symptoms may be at a high risk of engaging in impulsive behavior that, in some cases, may put the individual in a fear inducing situation (i.e., context where PTEs commonly occur), further exacerbating existing hyperarousal symptoms.

Low SC, specifically within the common humanity component, may worsen hyperarousal symptoms above and beyond ER difficulties. For example, a student returning to college following PTE exposure may experience another common manifestation of reactivity, hypervigilance when around others. The sense of distrust and not fitting in that is a primary outcome of low common humanity may manifest as being on high alert, evidenced by behavior such as the student sitting with their back to the wall facing the exit, or standing at the back of a crowd. For this student who feels as though they are out of place and all alone in their suffering, fostering a sense of common humanity may lead to an increased sense of belonging and safety that could moderate excessive alertness when in the presence of others. Accordingly, high ER and SC may assist individuals in deploying effective ER strategies, including goal-directed behavior, and increasing one's sense of safety and belonging, thereby decreasing symptoms of arousal and reactivity.

In sum, ER is likely to account for variance in PTS such that PTE exposed individuals may benefit from increased awareness and understanding of unwanted emotions, acceptance of uncomfortable thoughts and physical sensations, engagement in goal-directed behaviors, and flexible deployment of ER strategies. SC may contribute additional variance in PTS beyond ER given the uniqueness of the self-kindness and common humanity components that may assist individuals exposed to PTEs relate to themselves and their experiences in a kinder way and as part of the human condition.

General Summary and Purpose

Seventy percent of individuals experience a PTE during their lifetime and approximately 8% go on to develop PTSD, which has numerous negative social and individual sequelae including elevated healthcare expenditure and low job performance. Notably, high ER difficulties such as low clarity, awareness, willingness to have, and acceptance of emotional experiences, in addition to low engagement in goal directed behaviors, are associated with presence of a PTSD diagnosis and high PTS symptom severity (Tull et al., 2007a). Yet, PTS symptom severity is not fully accounted for by ER. As such, identification of variables that account for PTS symptom severity variance above and beyond that accounted for by ER appears warranted. Research indicates high SC is related to effective ER strategy use and low distress in PTE exposed samples, suggesting SC may be one such construct. Yet, no research has specified the relation of PTS symptom severity, ER difficulties, and SC in a single statistical model. Thus, we aimed to identify the variance of PTS symptom severity accounted for by SC after controlling for ER difficulties. Specific aims and hypotheses are outlined below.

Aims and Specific Hypotheses of the Present Study

Aim 1: Identify the relation of PTS symptom severity, ER difficulties, and SC in a sample of individuals previously exposed to a PTE.

H1: ER difficulty scores will be inversely related to SC scores.

H2: ER difficulty scores will be positively related to PTS symptom severity scores.

H3: SC scores will be inversely related to PTS symptom severity scores.

Aim 2: Identify the variance in PTS symptom severity accounted for by SC above and beyond that accounted for by ER difficulties.

H4: SC will account for a significant amount of variance in PTS symptom severity after accounting for participant sex and ER difficulties.

Method

Participants

Power Analysis

Researchers investigating the relation of PTS symptom severity and ER difficulties reported large effect sizes (e.g., see review Seligowski et al., 2014). Likewise, the relation of SC and PTS symptom severity appears to be large at baseline, though small effect sizes have been reported at 12-month follow-up assessments ($f^2 = 0.08$; Hiraoka et al., 2015). For the current study, a power analysis was computed using G*Power software v3.1.9.2 (Faul et al., 2009) with an expected effect size of $f^2 = 0.08$ (e.g., small). The alpha error rate was set at 0.05 and three predictor variables, ER, SC, and sex, were included. Sex was included as a predictor because research suggests men report greater levels of SC than women (Yarnell et al., 2015). The multiple regression power analysis indicated a sample of N = 141 would be needed to provide

power of 80% to detect a significant main effect after controlling for variance accounted for by sex.

Recruitment Strategy

Participants were recruited using the University of South Dakota (USD) SONA Systems and other online recruitment platforms (e.g., www.MyMindfulDays.com, www.berthalab.org, Facebook, etc.). Eligibility criteria for the final analysis included self-reported: being 18 years of age or older; 8th grade or higher English reading ability; a student at USD; and endorsement of exposure to at least one lifetime PTE exposure that met DSM-5 Criterion A PTSD requirements (e.g., direct exposure to sexual violence), as reported on the Life Events Checklist-5 (LEC-5; Weathers et al., 2013a).

Sample

One-hundred and fifty-eight eligible participants were recruited from the USD undergraduate student population. Thirteen participants were excluded from the final analysis. Seven provided incomplete data (see Analytic Approach, below) and three randomly responded to attention check items (see Measures, below). Three participants were excluded due to age being more than 3.29 standard deviations (\pm 9 years) from the mean. No participants were excluded for completing the survey in an unreasonable amount of time (i.e., no more than 3.29 standard deviations, \pm 124 minutes, away from the mean). Participant characteristics of the remaining 145 participants included in the final analysis are presented in Table 1.

In short, participants were predominately White (94.5%), female (82.8%), single (69.0%) U.S. citizens (96.6%) who attended school full-time (99.3%) and were employed part-time (55.2%).

Table 1.Participant Characteristics

Variable	M(SD)	Range		
Age (in years)	19.68(2.77)	18–23 years		
	n	%		
Sex				
Female	121	82.8		
Male	24	16.6		
Gender				
Man	24	16.6		
Woman	121	82.8		
Nonbinary	1	0.7		
Ethnicity (could select >1)				
White	137	94.5		
Black	2	1.4		
Asian	4	2.8		
Hispanic/Latino	4	2.8		
American Indian	1	0.7		
Sexuality				
Heterosexual	119	82.1		
Lesbian	2	1.4		
Gay	2	1.4		
Bisexual	17	11.7		
Pansexual	3	2.1		
Questioning or unsure	2	1.4		
Relationship				
Single	100	69.0		
Living with partner	5	3.4		
Committed relationship	40	27.6		
Student				
Part-time	1	0.7		
Full-time	144	99.3		
Employment				
Unemployed	61	42.1		
Part-time	80	55.2		
Full-time	4	2.8		
Born in United States				
Yes	140	96.6		
No	5	3.4		
English second language				
Yes	4	2.8		
No	141	97.2		

Note. N = 145.

Measures

Self-report measures, described below, were administered to assess eligibility criteria and trait-level behavioral constructs.

Eligibility Assessment Surveys

Eligibility Questionnaire. A self-report questionnaire designed for the current study (see Appendix A) was used to assess inclusion criteria of participant age, English language proficiency, and lifetime PTE exposure.

Life Events Checklist (LEC-5; Weathers et al., 2013a). The LEC-5 (see Appendix B) is a two-part self-report measure of lifetime PTE exposure, used in the present study to determine eligibility, as described in Recruitment Strategy, above. Part 1 includes 17 items: 16 items specify specific PTE classes (e.g., natural disaster, physical assault, accidents) and one item provides opportunity for participants to report other stressful events and experiences not previously assessed. Participants indicate level of exposure to each event using a 6-point nominal scale (1 = happened to me; 2 = witnessed it; 3 = learned about it; 4 = not sure; 5 = part of myjob; 6 = does not apply). Sample items include: "Sexual assault (rape, attempted rape, made to perform any type of sexual act through force or threat of harm)" and "Assault with a weapon (for example, being shot, stabbed, threatened with a knife, gun, bomb)". Part 2 is composed of eight items of various response types (e.g., open-ended; yes-no) that participants use to identify and describe their worst experienced PTE. Sample items include: "How long ago did it happen?" and "Did it involve sexual violence?" Research indicates the LEC-5 has adequate test-retest reliability (r = 0.58), as well as good convergent validity with other measures of PTE exposure (rs = .61 - .71; Hall et al., 2019).

Experimental Survey Battery

Demographics Questionnaire. A questionnaire standardized for use in research (see Appendix C) was used to assess participant age, sex, race, ethnicity, socioeconomic status, relationship status, current employment status, and education level.

PTSD Checklist (PCL-5; Weathers et al., 2013c). The PCL-5 (see Appendix D) is a 20-item self-report assessment of DSM-5 PTSD symptom severity (i.e., re-experiencing, avoidance, negative alterations of cognitions and moods, and hyperarousal). Referring to the worst event identified during response to the LEC-5, described above, participants report the extent to which they have been bothered by each symptom in the past month using a 4-point Likert-type scale ($0 = not \ at \ all \ to \ 4 = extremely$). Sample items include: "Feeling very upset when something reminded you of a stressful experience" and "Trouble remembering important parts of a stressful experience." Total PTS severity score (Range = 0–80) is calculated as the item-total sum. A cut-point score of 33 is suggestive of probable presence of PTSD (Blevins et al., 2015). Research indicates the PCL-5 has adequate internal consistency (α s = .94–.95) and test-retest reliability (r = 0.82), as well as adequate convergent validity (rs = .74-.85; Blevins et al., 2015) with other measures of PTSD symptom severity (e.g., Detailed Assessment of Posttraumatic Symptoms-Posttraumatic Stress Scale and Posttraumatic Distress Scale). The PCL-5 also appears to have good discriminant validity with several constructs, including mania, depression, and antisocial personality features (rs = .31-.60; Weathers et al., 2013c). Internal consistency in the present sample was adequate, $\alpha = 0.95$.

Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale (DERS; Gratz & Roemer, 2004). The DERS (see Appendix E) is a 36-item self-report questionnaire used to assess trait-level perceived ER ability. The scale includes six subscales (i.e., AWARENESS, CLARITY, NONACCEPT,

GOALS, IMPULSE, STRATEGIES), which encompass the four ER skills described above in Gratz and Roemer's (2004) functional model of ER. Participants indicate how often each statement applies to them using a 5-point Likert-type scale ($1 = almost\ never\ [0-10\%]$) to $5 = almost\ always\ [91-100\%]$). Sample items include, "I experience my emotions as overwhelming and out of control" (IMPULSE) and "When I'm upset, I believe that my feelings are valid and important." (AWARENESS). Total ER difficulty score is calculated as the sum of all items, following appropriate reverse scoring. High scores indicate high ER difficulties. Research suggests adequate DERS internal consistency, $\alpha s = .93-.94$ (Gratz & Roemer, 2004; Hallion et al., 2018). The DERS appears to have adequate test-retest reliability ($\alpha = .88$; Gratz & Roemer, 2004) and construct validity (Medrano & Trogolo, 2016) with other measures of ER. Lastly, the DERS demonstrates predictive validity, particularly in the context of trauma related symptoms. For example, difficulties accepting emotional responses significantly predict avoidance and hyperarousal symptomology (O'Bryan et al., 2015). Internal consistency in the present sample was adequate, $\alpha = .95$.

Self-Compassion Scale (SCS; Neff, 2003a). The SCS (see Appendix F) is a 26-item self-report survey used to assess trait-level SC. The scale includes six subscales that capture positive and negative attitudes towards the self: self-kindness, common humanity, and mindfulness (i.e., three positive SC attitudes towards the self); and self-judgement, isolation, and over-identification (i.e., three negative SC attitudes towards the self, each reverse scored). Participants specify the frequency they engage in each behavior using a 5-point Likert-type scale (1 = almost never to 5 = almost always). Example items for positive subscales include: "When I am going through a very hard time, I give myself the caring and tenderness I need" (Self-Kindness) and "When something upsets me, I try to keep my emotions in balance"

(Mindfulness). Examples of negative subscale items include, "I'm disapproving and judgmental about my own flaws and inadequacies" (Self-Judgement) and "When I'm feeling down, I tend to obsess and fixate on everything that's wrong" (Over-Identification). Total SC score may be calculated as the grand mean or sum of all items, following appropriate reverse scoring. The present study implemented the item mean scoring method such that high scores indicate high SC. Research indicates adequate SCS internal consistency, $\alpha s = .86-.89$ (Neff, 2003a; Neff et al., 2008). Additionally, the SCS has adequate construct and divergent validity. For example, total SCS scores are positively associated with intrinsic motivation and emotion focused coping strategies, and inversely related to depression symptoms and self-criticism (Neff, 2003b; Neff et al., 2005). Internal consistency in the present sample was adequate, $\alpha = .92$.

Attention Check Items. Three attention check items (see Appendix G; Abbey & Meloy, 2017) were used to assess for participant inattention and random responding. Attention check items included one honesty check, "Did you expend effort and attention sufficient to warrant using your responses for this research study?", one directed query, "For this query, mark NO and move on", both with "Yes" or "No" response items, and one logical statement, "I would rather eat a piece of fruit than a piece of paper" with "I agree" and "I disagree" response items.

Approximately 2% (n = 3) of the present sample responded inappropriately to one of these items.

Procedure

All procedures were approved by the local Institutional Review Board. Interested individuals provided electronic informed consent and completed the eligibility survey, as described above. Participants who did not report lifetime PTE exposure, as indicated by responses to the LEC-5 (see Recruitment Strategy, above), were excluded from the final analysis. Eligible participants were redirected to the experimental online survey battery. Following survey

completion, participants were virtually debriefed and thanked for their time, marking the end of participation. Three course credits were awarded to participants who completed the survey.

Analytic Approach

All statistical analyses were conducted using IBM SPSS Statistics software (version 27). As noted above, a missing value analysis was conducted in which seven of 158 participants were identified as having missing data across study variables. Three participants provided missing data on the entire DERS, and four participants provided missing data on the entire SCS. However, less than 5% of data were missing, leading to the use of listwise deletion for data provided by these seven participants (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2013). Three participants responded inappropriately to one of three attention check items presented randomly throughout the survey battery. Additionally, data provided by three participants were removed due to participant ages being more than 3.29 standard deviations away from the mean, thus indicating they did not represent the typical college student, which was the focus of the present study. Data from the remaining 145 participants are discussed below.

All variables were normally distributed based upon normality statistics (see Table 2) and visual examination of frequency histograms and Q-Q plots. In addition, no univariate (i.e., ± 3.29 SD from the mean; Tabachnick & Fidell, 2013) nor multivariate outliers (based on Mahalanobis distance statistics) were identified. Analytic procedures for inferential statistics are reported below, structured by study aims.

Aim 1 of the present study was to identify the relation of PTS symptom severity, ER difficulties, and SCS in a sample of individuals previously exposed to a PTE. Three Pearson product-moment correlations were conducted to identify the relation of PTS symptom severity and ER difficulty scores, ER difficulty and SC scores, and SC scores and PTS symptom severity.

Aim 2 of the present study was to identify the variance in PTS symptom severity accounted for by SC above and beyond that accounted for by ER difficulties. A 3-step hierarchical regression was conducted. PTS symptom severity was entered in the analysis as the consequent variable. Participant sex (Male = 0 and Female = 1) was entered in the analysis as an antecedent in Step 1. ER difficulties was entered in the analysis as an antecedent in Step 2. SC was entered in the analysis as an antecedent in Step 3. Change in R^2 between Step 2 and Step 3 was evaluated for significance.

Results

Descriptive statistics for PTS symptom severity, ER, and SC are presented in Table 2. Average PTS symptom severity scores in the present sample were within one standard deviation of other college samples exposed to PTEs (Blevins et al., 2015) and below the provisional PTSD diagnosis cut off score of 33, which is also consistent with similar samples of college students (Blevins et al., 2015). Thirty-five participants (24.1%) reported PCL-5 scores of 33 or higher, which is suggestive of presence of a probable PTSD diagnosis and approximately double the prevalence reported in other college samples (Boyraz et al., 2016). Most participants reported experiencing their most distressing PTE via direct exposure (n = 73; 50.3%), followed by learning about (n = 37; 25.5%), witnessing (n = 30; 20.7%), and job-related (n = 2; 1.4%) PTEs. Consistent with other student samples (Elhai & Simons, 2007), individuals' most distressing PTE was most often sudden/accidental death (n = 35; 23.6%), followed by life-threatening illness (n = 26; 17.6%), accidents (n = 25; 16.9%), sexual abuse (n = 25; 16.9%), physical abuse (n = 17; 11.5%), other (n = 9; 6.2%), natural disaster (n = 6; 4.1%), and fire related (n = 2; 1.4%).

Average ER difficulty scores for the present sample suggested moderate levels of ER difficulties and were within one standard deviation of other college samples who reported PTE

exposure (Pickett et al., 2015). Average SC scores for the present sample also were moderate and approximated that reported in similar college samples (Fong & Loi, 2016; Neff, 2003a; Thompson & Waltz, 2008).

Table 2.Descriptive Statistics of Study Variables

Variable	n	М	SD	Range	Skewness	Kurtosis
PTS symptom severity	145	21.25	18.39	2–76	0.98	0.41
ER difficulties	145	89.60	26.97	42–177	0.57	0.11
SC	145	2.90	0.69	1-4.54	-0.02	-0.03

Note. PTS = posttraumatic stress; ER = emotion regulation; SC = self-compassion.

Bivariate correlations are presented in Table 3. Participant sex was significantly positively correlated with PTS symptom severity, p = 0.05, such that females reported higher levels of PTS symptom severity than males. Participant sex was also significantly and positively correlated with ER difficulties total score, p = 0.01, such that females reported higher ER difficulties than males. Sex was significantly and negatively correlated with SC total score, p = 0.05, such that males reported greater SC than females. The relation of ER difficulties and SC, computed to evaluate Hypothesis 1, was significant and negative, p < 0.01. ER difficulties were significantly positively related to PTS symptom severity, p < 0.01, which supported Hypothesis 2. Lastly, SC was significantly and inversely correlated with PTS symptom severity, p < 0.01, in line with Hypothesis 3. In sum, results indicated support for all Aim 1 associated hypotheses.

Table 3. *Bivariate Correlations for Study Variables*

Variable	1	2	3	4	
1. Sex	_				
2. PTS symptom severity	0.16^{*}	_			
3. ER difficulties	0.22^{**}	0.63**	_		
4. SC	-0.17^*	-0.48^{**}	-0.82**	_	

Note. N = 145; PTS = posttraumatic stress; ER = emotion regulation; SC = self-compassion; Male = 0 and Female = 1.

Examination of correlation coefficients revealed SC and ER difficulties were strongly associated, r(143) = -0.82, p < .01. Therefore, collinearity statistics (i.e., Tolerance and VIF) were computed to distinguish whether ER difficulties and SC may independently predict PTS symptom severity. Results indicated all values were within accepted limits, Tolerance = .32 and VIF = 3.11 (Hair et al., 2010), suggesting collinearity was not problematic.

A three-step hierarchical multiple regression analysis was conducted to identify the variance in PTS symptom severity accounted for by SC above and beyond that accounted for by ER difficulties (see Table 4). Results regarding Step 1 indicated that the inclusion of participant sex significantly contributed to the model beyond that of the null model, F(1, 143) = 3.80, p = 0.05, and accounted for 2.6% of the variance in PTS symptom severity. In Step 2, total R^2 increased to .37, which suggested inclusion of ER difficulties accounted for an additional 34.4% of the variance in PTS symptom severity above that accounted for by participant sex. This change was a significant improvement to the model, F(1, 141) = 47.09, p < 0.01. Finally, entry of SC to the model led to a non-significant change in model fit and accounted for just 0.3% of

^{**} *p* < 0.01; * *p*< 0.05.

the variance in PTS symptom severity after accounting for participant sex and ER difficulties, F(1, 141) = 88.06, p < 0.01. After accounting for all steps in the model, a non-significant amount of variance was accounted for, F(3, 141) = 31.57, p = 0.40.

 Table 4.

 Hierarchical Regression Analysis for Variables Predicting Posttraumatic Stress Symptoms

Variable	β	t	p	R	\mathbb{R}^2	ΔR^2
Step 1				.16	.02	.02
Sex	0.16	1.95	0.05			
Step 2				.62	.39	.37**
Sex	0.02	0.32				
ER	0.62	9.38	0.00			
Step 3						
Sex	0.02	0.30		.63	.40	.00
ER	0.70	6.08				
SC	0.09	0.84	0.00			

Note. N = 145; ER = emotion regulation difficulties; SC = self-compassion; 0 = Male and 1 = Female.

Discussion

Individuals exposed to PTEs often experience a variety of negative outcomes at both the individual and societal level, including high ER difficulties, elevated healthcare costs, and development of PTSD (Kilpatrick et al., 2013; Peterson et al., 2017; Tull et al., 2007a). Extant research suggests ER difficulties are associated with PTS symptom severity relative to use of effective ER strategies (Bardeen et al., 2013b). Yet, considerable variance in PTS symptom severity is unexplained after accounting for ER difficulties. High levels of SC are related to

p < 0.01.

effective deployment of ER strategies and low PTS symptom severity (Berking & Whitley, 2014; Thompson & Waltz, 2008). Accordingly, SC may be one variable that accounts for variance in PTS symptom severity after accounting for ER difficulties. The present study was the first to evaluate such relations using a cross-sectional design. Specifically, the present study aimed to 1) identify the relation of PTS symptom severity, ER difficulties, and SC in a sample of individuals previously exposed to a PTE, and 2) identify the variance in PTS symptom severity accounted for by SC above and beyond that accounted for by ER difficulties. Overall, hypotheses proposed for Aim 1 were supported. However, results did not align with the Aim 2 hypothesis.

Summary of Present Outcomes

Consistent with Hypothesis 1, high ER difficulty was significantly correlated with low SC. This finding is consistent with extant research, which indicates ER difficulties are associated with low SC among individuals who experience a range of psychiatric problems and symptoms, including depression, anxiety, OCD, and PTSD (Barlow et al., 2017; Diedrich et al., 2014; Eichholz et al., 2020; Kuyken et al., 2010; Neff et al., 2005; Roemer et al., 2009; Scoglio et al., 2015; Thompson & Waltz, 2008). Thus, results suggest individuals who experience difficulties regulating their emotions broadly may also struggle regulating emotion that is directed toward the self. Alternatively, this relation may have been the product of response bias. For example, participants may have selected responses on the extreme ends of each Likert scale due to fatigue or carelessness. However, attention check items were presented randomly throughout the survey battery, which afforded a means of identifying and removing data provided by participants who may have been affected by these factors. The likelihood that fatigue or carelessness exerted a considerable effect on the present results seems low.

It is also possible that variance shared by ER and SC, or that a third, non-assessed variable that strengthened the relation of these two variables, may have influenced the significant result. Though research suggests the ER difficulty-SC relation is higher among individuals with PTS symptoms relative to individuals with other psychiatric difficulties (e.g., major depressive disorder; OCD; generalized anxiety symptoms; Barlow et al., 2017; Diedrich et al., 2017; Eichholz et al., 2020; Roemer et al., 2009), associations of SC and ER difficulties typically reported are in the .69–.70 range (Barlow et al., 2017; Scoglio et al., 2015; Vettese et al., 2011). This is considerably lower than that observed in the present study (i.e., r = -.82). Identification of factors that may impact the ER difficulty-SC relation in the context of PTS symptoms seems warranted.

Hypothesis 2 was also supported. Specifically, ER difficulty was positively related to PTS symptom severity. Researchers have reported a positive relation of ER difficulties and PTS symptom severity among individuals exposed to PTEs, such as treatment seeking combat veterans, survivors of interpersonal violence, refugees, and survivors of childhood maltreatment (Ehring & Quack, 2010; Smith et al., 2019; Spiller et al., 2019; Sun et al., 2020; Vettese et al., 2011). This suggests individuals who report difficulty regulating their emotions may experience higher PTS symptom severity relative to individuals who report low ER difficulty. The present findings add to existing knowledge in that this was the first study to investigate the relation of ER difficulties and PTS symptom severity among a broad range of PTEs relative to similar samples.

Hypothesis 3, which posited low SC would be significantly related to PTS symptom severity, was also supported. This finding is again consistent with results of past research among various populations (e.g., veterans, treatment seeking PTSD patients, and college students who

reported PTE exposure; Hiraoka et al., 2015; Hoffart et al., 2015; Thompson & Waltz, 2008). It appears that individuals who report high levels of PTS symptoms, which often involve guilt and self-blame (Benfer et al., 2020), may have difficulty engaging in a self-compassionate attitude. Notably, guilt and self-blame were captured by the self-report measures used in the present study, though they were not analyzed due to the aims of the present study. Presence of these symptoms may have influenced the PTS-SC relation, particularly given the strong correlation previously reported between low SC and high guilt (Valdez & Lily, 2019). Identifying the role these variables play in future research could add clarity regarding the applicability and specificity of modifying SC in the treatment of PTSD.

Contrary to Hypothesis 4, SC did not account for significant variance in PTS symptom severity above and beyond ER difficulties. This suggests SC does not add predictive power over that of ER difficulties for those who report PTS symptoms. Alternatively, this could indicate ER is a necessary precursor to SC or that SC is subsumed by ER in this population, both of which are discussed below. Notably, the present study is the first to identify relations of these variables in a single statistical model, which led to identification of higher SC-ER interrelatedness relative to any known studies. However, research indicates other factors not presently assessed may influence the ER difficulty-SC relation. For example, one study that identified the variance in ER difficulties accounted for by SC after controlling for childhood maltreatment, addiction severity, and psychological symptom severity found SC contributed to 14% of the variance (Vettese et al., 2011). Thus, inclusion of historical and concurrent behavioral problems within the current model may have further clarified the interrelations of ER, SC, and PTS symptoms.

And yet, several factors may account for the differential outcome observed presently relative to extant research that identified relations of ER, SC, and PTS symptom severity,

including a potential overlap in constructs, assessment selection, temporal precedence of variables, psychopathology characteristics, trauma types, and potential influence of the coronavirus pandemic, which will be discussed below.

Construct Overlap of ER and SC

Though statistical analyses indicated multicollinearity was not problematic in the present dataset, SC and ER difficulties were strongly negatively associated, as noted above. Inclusion of highly related variables (i.e., r > .70) in multivariate analyses can lead to problems of logic (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2013). Specifically, researchers posit SC and ER operate as separate constructs, however no known research has specified the divergent validity between SC and ER among PTE exposed college students. As such, there may be some unidentified overlap in constructs, which may have led to the present unsupported hypothesis regarding the final statistical model. With SC and ER being so highly correlated it would be difficult to manipulate one variable without the other, thereby making the variance accounted for by SC, separate from ER, difficult to delineate. Moreover, it is possible that SC is subsumed within ER. Indeed, a strong theoretical construct overlap between SC and the behavioral skills that define effective ER appears present. Specifically, the mindfulness component of SC and the awareness component of ER appear quite similar. The likelihood that SC is part of ER may have led to the non-supported hypothesis for Aim 2.

Assessment Device Selection

Methodological differences of the present study relative to previous work also may explain why SC did not account for a significant amount of variance in PTS symptom severity above ER difficulties. In contrast with the present study, extant research assessed PTS symptom severity using the Clinician-Administered PTSD Scale (Blake et al., 1995) and the Impact Event

Scale (Horowitz et al., 1979), each developed in line with PTSD criteria as presented in previous versions of the DSM. Considering current diagnostic criteria, the Clinician-Administered PTSD Scale does not assess for negative alterations in cognition and mood and the Impact Event Scale does not assess for hyperarousal nor negative alterations in cognition and mood. As such, these measures may not accurately capture the true interrelatedness of ER difficulties and SC among PTE exposed individuals. The present study assessed PTS symptom severity in accordance with present conceptualization of the disorder. The true interrelatedness of ER difficulties and SC may have been more accurately captured in the present analysis, leading to SC not accounting for significant variance in PTS symptoms beyond ER difficulties.

Temporal Precedence of ER and SC

Research is equivocal on whether SC is a precursor for effective ER strategy deployment, or if ER is a precursor for self-compassionate behavior. The present study was designed based upon the assumption that SC functions as a precursor to effective ER strategy deployment, and several lines of evidence provide converging support for this assumption. In the context of PTE exposed individuals, some evidence suggests SC may be a precursor to effective ER strategy deployment (Barlow et al., 2017; Vettese et al., 2011). For example, an individual exposed to a PTE may become entangled with self-blame (Benfer et al., 2020). Overreliance on such cognition as a guide for behavior (e.g., cognitive fusion; Hayes et al., 1996) is associated with high PTS symptom severity and ER difficulties, as well as low value-guided behavior (Cox et al., 2018). SC appears to moderate the relation of unwanted cognition, fusion with cognitions, and psychiatric symptoms (Gillanders et al., 2015), such that individuals who report high SC also report less entanglement with private experiences. As previously mentioned, this suggests SC may be a process that underlies ineffective behavioral strategies. Accordingly, SC may be a

necessary precursor for one to gain distance from unwanted maladaptive thought processes and, in turn, deploy effective behavioral strategies, such as ER, in times of distress. Moreover, childhood maltreatment is related to high ER difficulties (Barlow et al., 2017; Vettese et al., 2011), and this relation is mediated by low levels of SC, suggesting individuals exposed to a PTE may exhibit ER difficulties because of low self-kindness and care. However, the cross-sectional nature of these findings limits interpretations of causality and may not provide a valid representation of these relations.

Other research indicates ER may be foundational to the use of SC skills. First, effective ER skills, including the awareness and acceptance of unwanted emotions, may support acceptance-oriented behavior, which appears necessary to engage in self-compassionate activity. For example, common SC exercises (often presented in the form of meditation or imagery activities) typically ask individuals to approach with willingness and curiosity, rather than avoid, negative emotion (Neff, 2003a). As such, the ability to apply acceptance to internal experiences may be a prerequisite for effective SC behavior. For PTE exposed individuals, levels of avoidance are typically quite high, which may inhibit their ability to practice self-compassionate behavior (Neff et al., 2007; Thompson & Waltz, 2008). Second, ER difficulties appear to be an underlying mechanism in the development and maintenance of PTS symptom severity (Marx & Sloan, 2005) and a key aspect in the relation of SC and PTS. Evidence suggests ER mediates the relation of PTS symptom severity and SC among women interpersonal trauma survivors (Scoglio et al., 2015), supporting the notion that ER difficulties (e.g., excessive avoidance behavior) interferes with the application of a self-compassionate perspective towards one's perceived negative experiences. The present results provide support for such a conceptualization, in that SC did not account for a significant amount of variance in PTS symptoms beyond ER difficulties.

However, the above reviewed literature and present results are cross-sectional in nature. The lack of longitudinal, experimental, and ecological momentary assessments limits our ability to disentangle temporal precedence of SC and ER among PTE exposed individuals.

Applicability of ER and SC Across Type and Level of Psychopathology

SC and ER may differ in applicability for different psychiatric disorders, which could explain the present non-supported hypothesis among PTE exposed individuals. For example, ER appears particularly relevant to borderline personality disorder (Ratcliffe & Bortolan, 2021), which includes symptoms of high impulsive behavior and emotional reactivity (APA, 2013). Individuals with borderline personality disorder report high levels of avoidance, which is often in the service of regulation of emotion broadly (Feldner et al., 2003). ER appears to facilitate goaldirected behavior and present-moment awareness through acceptance and contextually sensitive ER strategy deployment (Gratz & Roemer, 2004) that may, in turn, facilitate effective regulation of both positive and negative emotions. Alternatively, SC may be particularly useful in the context of major depressive disorder (Diedrich et al., 2017), wherein individuals experience high negative emotion (Macbeth & Gumley, 2012) such as shame (Van Dam et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2018), which is related to low SC (Neff, 2003a). For an individual with depression, low mood may manifest as symptoms of low self-esteem and high self-criticism (Neff & Germer, 2012), potentially occasioning a pattern of high guilt and shame. SC appears to mediate the relation of shame and depression symptoms (Zhang et al., 2018), suggesting SC may be an intervening process between secondary and primary emotional responses, particularly in the context of low mood. However, research is cross-sectional and thus causality cannot be determined.

As previously noted, both ER and SC appear useful concepts to apply to sequalae of PTE exposure (Barlow et al., 2017; Scoglio et al., 2015; Vettese et al., 2011), such that high PTS

symptom severity is related to high ER difficulties and low SC (Thompson & Waltz, 2008; Tull et al., 2007a). However, evidence also suggests PTS symptom severity may be a useful indicator as to the applicability of ER or SC to presenting problems. Presence of a PTSD diagnosis is associated with high avoidance behaviors, which could disrupt SC due to the previously described need within SC exercises for willingness and accepting stances towards private experiences. Thus, the establishment of effective ER strategies, such as awareness and acceptance of unwanted emotions, may foster effective self-compassionate behavior (Scoglio et al., 2015; Thompson & Waltz, 2008). Indeed, among individuals diagnosed with PTSD, ER mediates the PTS symptom severity-SC relation (Scoglio et al., 2015), such that PTS symptom severity is related to low SC through high ER difficulties. This suggests a focus on enhancing ER abilities may be most useful for individuals experiencing high versus low levels of PTS symptom severity. In the context of low PTS symptom severity, however, SC may be more directly applicable due to lower tendencies towards avoidance-oriented coping strategies (Vettese et al., 2011). Overall, SC and ER may be differentially useful among individuals with varying levels of PTS symptom severity. The present results, which posits SC may not be a precursor to effective ER, may have been different if the sample had reported lower PTS symptom severity.

Trauma Type Categorization on PTS symptom severity, ER, and SC

The present results may also reflect the decision to include all individuals who reported any lifetime PTE exposure rather than selecting based upon a singular type. Extant research suggests both timing and type of PTE exposure impacts severity of PTS symptom severity and associated difficulties, including low ER ability and SC. For example, individuals who are exposed to direct (versus indirect) or chronic (versus single event) PTEs report higher PTS symptom severity, and those who experience early childhood trauma report higher ER

difficulties relative to those who experience adulthood PTEs (Ehring & Quack, 2010; May & Wisco, 2016). Additionally, individuals who are sexually assaulted report higher negative post-trauma emotions (e.g., anger, guilt, irritability), re-experiencing, avoidance, and arousal symptoms, and experience greater disruption in SC than those exposed to other trauma types (Amstadter & Vernon, 2008; Kelley et al., 2009; Williamson, 2019). Unfortunately, ambiguity in self-reported timing (e.g., failure to specify specific time frames or units [e.g., days versus hours] of exposure) and type (e.g., multiple index events listed) of PTE limited our ability to meaningfully categorize participants along these dimensions.

Impact of COVID-19 on PTS Symptom Severity

Results may also have been impacted by data collection occurring amidst the coronavirus pandemic, which has been termed a biological disaster (Dzigbede et al., 2020). The long-term effects of COVID-19 on PTS symptom severity, ER, and SC are unknown, though researchers have recently begun studying the effects of COVID-19 related stress on behavioral health. Evidence suggests COVID-19 may add more stress to participants (Johnson et al., 2020), causing increased PTS symptom severity that, as noted above, is associated with disrupted ER. Research also suggests self-isolation and other COVID-19 related stress is related to high anxiety, depression, substance abuse, and self-harm behavior (World Health Organization, 2020). Perhaps the starkest example of COVID-19 impacts on mental health to date is among healthcare workers, of whom almost 29% report PTS symptoms (Johnson et al., 2020). This suggests the COVID-19 pandemic may function as a chronic, complex-type PTE, particularly for individuals who know, or are in contact with, others exposed to the virus. Though average PTS symptom severity reported by the present participants was similar to past samples, more participants met or exceeded the cutoff for probable PTSD diagnoses (24.3%) than would be typically expected.

The influence of the pandemic on these participants, as well as on levels of ER and SC and the interrelations of each, is presently unknown.

Strengths

The current study has multiple strengths. First, the current study was the first to specify the relation of PTS symptom severity, ER difficulties, and SC in a single statistical model among college students. Specifically, we sought to identify the variance of PTS symptom severity accounted for by SC after controlling for ER difficulties. In so doing, the relation of ER difficulties and SC among PTE exposed individuals with resultant PTS symptoms has been clarified. Second, the present study collected data during a global pandemic. Research indicates existing psychopathology may be exacerbated following biological disasters. By studying the role of PTS symptom severity, ER, and SC during the pandemic, this study established a baseline for these relations in the context of a biological disaster, though it is unclear if the relations reported herein hold up in the context of other types of disasters (e.g., natural). Third, the current sample reported a broader range of PTS symptom severity and higher ratio of probable PTSD relative to extant research studying college samples, which allowed us to investigate the relation reported in the present study among a unique sample. Collectively, these strengths improved upon past research efforts and may help inform the use of SC based interventions for individuals exposed to PTEs.

Limitations and Future Directions

Sample Limitations and Future Directions

Recruitment for the present study was limited to undergraduate college students. Though this approach allows for generalization to other college student populations by limiting heterogeneity, results may not generalize to broader populations. For example, participants were

predominately Female (83.1%), White (94.6%), and relatively young (Mage = 19.68), which is not consistent with the general U.S. population (U.S. Census Bureau, 2020). As such, it is unclear whether the results reported herein would apply to individuals with different demographics. Additionally, the current study did not specifically recruit individuals with diagnosed PTSD, nor did we assess diagnostic criteria for PTSD or history of treatment for traumatic stress, so it is unclear if the present results are applicable to these populations. Future research should broaden participant recruitment to community-based samples, including those diagnosed with PTSD.

Theoretical Limitations and Future Directions

As previously discussed, SC and ER may be subject to strong construct overlap that warrants future research. Research is mixed regarding which variable (SC or ER) comes first in the context of psychopathology broadly and PTSD specifically, thus it is unclear the role SC may play in the relation of ER and PTS symptom severity. Moreover, the assessment of third variables may contribute to our understanding of how SC functions among PTE exposed individuals. As such, future research should aim to identify the temporal precedence of SC and ER among other disorders broadly like borderline personality disorder and bipolar disorder, in which high ER difficulties are often reported (Gruber et al., 2012; Ratcliffe & Bortolan, 2021). To do this, researchers may implement strategies to first increase ER among individuals, and then identify whether SC is useful above and beyond ER skills or vice versa. For example, researchers may increase ER through evidenced-based interventions like the ER module of dialectical behavior therapy (Linehan, 2013), which aims to help individuals better manage their emotions by learning when to deploy ER strategies. Researchers may increase SC using evidence-based interventions such as compassion focused therapy (Gilbert, 2010), which

encourages individuals to see themselves separate from their suffering. To assess whether ER and SC change independently, self-report measures like the DERS and SCS that measure trait-level ER and SC could be administered periodically. The results of the aforementioned studies may then inform how SC and ER operate specifically among PTE exposed individuals who report PTS symptoms. In the context of PTS symptoms, third variables like shame and guilt, which are reportedly high among individuals exposed to PTEs (Neff & Germer, 2012; Van Dam et al., 2011), should be assessed to identify their potential influence on the modification of SC in the treatment of PTSD.

Methodological Limitations and Future Directions

All variables were assessed through cross-sectional self-report data, which limits the ability to analyze PTS symptom severity and behavior across time. Specifically, the present methodology does not allow for the assessment of causative relations because each variable is assessed at a singular time point. Additionally, the present methodology does not allow for the identification of important details about reported PTEs and, in turn, investigation of the influence of trauma types on outcomes. For example, some participants in the present study provided too little specificity in their self-reported index trauma to allow for categorization of traumas or if an event would qualify as a Criterion A event. Moreover, participants were asked to reflect on past experiences, which may elicit recall or retrospective bias. As such, it is unclear whether the participants' report of SC is reflective of how they feel during the times they experience PTS symptoms. Thus, future research should include the use of clinical interviews in tandem with experimental and longitudinal research designs to delineate the applicability of SC and ER in PTS symptom severity more effectively.

The inclusion of clinical interviews would allow for proper collection of details related to index traumas. For example, the Clinician Administered PTSD Scale for DSM-5 (Weathers et al., 2013b) is a diagnostic interview that includes a detailed description of an individual's self-reported index trauma. The interviewer asks follow-up questions to obtain clarity about the reported index trauma that is useful in concluding whether someone meets a Criterion A event requirement. Additionally, implementing a clinical interview in future research would make the individual specify only *one* most distressing PTE, so that PTE's can be separated into trauma types, which may be useful for delineating how relevant other variables like SC and ER are in particular groups. For example, individuals exposed to sexual assault PTE's appear to report higher negative post-trauma emotions, and experience greater disruption in SC relative to individuals exposed to other trauma types (Amstadter & Vernon, 2008; Kelley et al., 2009; Williamson, 2019). Thus, future research may investigate the role of SC and ER among various trauma types.

Additionally, future research should include experimental and longitudinal research designs to address the limitations of causation and retrospective bias. For example, experimental study designs could include the assessment of ER among PTE exposed individuals via psychophysiological devices. Research suggests subjective and objective indicators of ER are often contradictory (Connelly & Denney, 2007; Shepherd & Wild, 2014). Specifically, self-reports of ER may be dependent on high self-awareness and meta-cognitive abilities (Cole et al., 2008; Robinson & Clore, 2002), whereas heart rate measurements (e.g., heart rate variability) provides a noninvasive objective measure of an individual's ability to regulate their emotions (Appelhans & Luecken, 2006). In addition to psychophysiological assessments, the use of behavioral tasks that measure ER and SC through a lab-based study is warranted. Specifically, it

would be important to identify whether people who are high in SC are inherently responding 'correctly' to ER questions because they are practicing self-kindness and strategies to not beat themselves up. The Emotion Regulation Task (Goldin et al., 2008) is a behavioral measure of ER whereby positive and negative emotions are elicited by viewing a set of images. Participants demonstrate their ability to increase positive emotions and down regulate negative emotions. Their ability to regulate their emotions in real time to the image sets is determined by a combination of self-report and neurobiological assessments (i.e., fMRI). However, this task appears to be adopted from a control-oriented conceptualization of ER (Gross, 1998); research has yet to determine the usefulness of the Emotion Regulation Task within a functional and contextually sensitive conceptualization of ER as outlined by Gratz and Roemer (2004). Future research should aim to develop and validate a behavioral task that measures ER from a more functional perspective. In the context of SC, there are currently no known SC based behavioral tasks, which opens an additional avenue for future research.

Researchers may also employ the use of longitudinal research designs that include daily diary or other intensive momentary assessment, which may reduce retrospective bias. Several measures exist, or could be developed from existing self-report surveys, to assess momentary levels of SC, ER, and PTS symptom severity. For example, the six-item state SCS-short form (Neff et al., 2021) may be used to capture momentary or daily levels of SC among study participants. In the context of a daily ER questionnaire, future research could include the use of the 21-item state-based version of the DERS (Lavender et al., 2017) to assess past day ER difficulties, though this measure may prove too long for use in intensive assessment designs. Similarly, a modified version of the PCL-5 could be used to assess daily PTS symptoms (e.g.,

Gaher et al., 2014), thus allowing for the measurement of current PTS symptom severity and eliminating the potential effect of retrospective bias.

Conclusion

In summary, the present study is the first to a) identify the relation of PTS symptom severity, ER difficulties, and SC in a sample of PTE exposed college students and b) identify the variance in PTS symptom severity accounted for by SC above and beyond that accounted for by ER difficulties. Consistent with previous research, ER difficulty scores were inversely correlated with SC scores and positively correlated with PTS symptoms severity scores. SC scores were positively correlated with PTS symptom severity scores. Contrary to our hypothesis, SC did not account for a significant amount of variance in PTS symptom severity after accounting for ER difficulties, which suggests there may be other variables that account for a significant amount of variance in the relation reported herein. Regardless, the present study adds to extant literature aimed at delineating the relation of ER and SC.

Overall, the present results support the notion that ER and SC have overlapping components, which makes it challenging to delineate which variable is more important in the treatment of PTSD. Future research is warranted to identify the role of each variable in the recovery from PTS symptoms. Despite several limitations in the sample, theory, and method, it appears lack of ability to effectively deploy ER skills is associated with high PTS symptom severity and, when this relation is accounted for, SC does not add predictive power. Future research should include the assessment of extraneous variables that may influence PTS symptom severity development, maintenance, and remittance. Specifically, the use of lab-based behavioral inductions and longitudinal designs that include the use of clinical interviews should be

considered. Research that considers the limitations reported herein may identify beneficial treatment targets for individuals who report PTS symptoms.

References

- Abbey, J. D., & Meloy, M. G. (2017). Attention by design: Using attention checks to detect inattentive respondents and improve data quality. *Journal of Operations Management*, 53, 63–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jom.2017.06.001
- Adele, M. H., & Feldman, G. (2004). Clarifying the construct of mindfulness in the context of emotion regulation and the process of change in therapy. *Clinical Psychology*, 11(3), 255–262. https://doi.org/10.1093/clipsy.bph080
- Aldao, A., & Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (2012). When are adaptive strategies most predictive of psychopathology? *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *121*(1), 276–281. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0023598
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.). https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596
- Amstadter, A. B., & Vernon, L. L. (2008). Emotional reactions during and after trauma: A comparison of trauma types. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma*, *16*(4), 391–408. https://doi.org/10.1080/10926770801926492
- Appelhans, B. M., & Luecken, L. J. (2006). Heart rate variability as an index of regulated emotional responding. *Review of General Psychology*, *10*(3), 229–240. https://doi.org/10.1037/1089-2680.10.3.229
- Arterberry, B. J., Boyd, C. J., West, B. T., Schepis, T. S., & McCabe, S. E. (2019). DSM-5 substance use disorders among college-age young adults in the United States: Prevalence, remission, and treatment. *Journal of American College Health*, 68(6), 650–657. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2019.1590368

- Baek, J. H., Kim, J. H., Kim, B. N., Park, S. J., Fava, M., Mischoulon, D., Lee, D., & Jeon, H. J. (2017). Comparisons of subthreshold versus full posttraumatic stress disorder distinguished by subjective functional impairment among train drivers: A population-based nationwide study in South Korea. *Psychiatry Investigation*, *14*(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.4306/pi.2017.14.1.1
- Baer, R. A., Smith, G. T., Lykins, E., Button, D., Krietemeyer, J., Sauer, S., Walsh, E., Duggins,
 D., & Williams, J. M. G. (2008). Construct validity of the Five Facet Mindfulness
 Questionnaire in meditating and nonmeditating samples. *Assessment*, 15(3), 329–342.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191107313003
- Baker, M. R., Frazier, P. A., Greer, C., Paulsen, J. A., Howard, K., Meredith, L. N., Anders, S. L., & Shallcross, S. L. (2016). Sexual victimization history predicts academic performance in college women. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 63(6), 685–692 https://doi.org/10.1037/cou0000146
- Baker, R., Holloway, J., Thomas, P. W., Thomas, S., & Owens, M. (2004). Emotional processing and panic. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 42, 1271–1287. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2003.09.002
- Banyard, V. L., & Cantor, E. N. (2004). Adjustment to college among trauma survivors: An exploratory study of resilience. *Journal of College Student Development*, 45(2), 207–221. https://doi.org/10.1353/csd.2004.0017
- Bardeen, J. R. (2015). Short-term pain for long-term gain: The role of experiential avoidance in the relation between anxiety sensitivity and emotional distress. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, *30*, 113–119. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.janxdis.2014.12.013

- Bardeen, J. R., Fergus, T. A., & Orcutt, H. K. (2013a). Experiential avoidance as a moderator of the relationship between anxiety sensitivity and perceived stress. *Behavior Therapy*, 44(3), 459–469. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2013.04.001
- Bardeen, J. R., Kumpula, M. J., & Orcutt, H. K. (2013b). Emotion regulation difficulties as a prospective predictor of posttraumatic stress symptoms following a mass shooting.

 Journal of Anxiety Disorders, 27(2), 188–196.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.janxdis.2013.01.003
- Bardeen, J. R., Tull, M. T., Dixon-Gordon, K. L., Stevens, E. N., & Gratz, K. L. (2014). Attentional control as a moderator of the relationship between difficulties accessing effective emotion regulation strategies and distress tolerance. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment, 37*(1), 79–84. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10862-014-9433-2
- Barker, V., Romaniuk, L., Cardinal, R. N., Pope, M., Nicol, K., & Hall, J. (2015). Impulsivity in borderline personality disorder. *Psychological Medicine*, *45*(09), 1955–1964. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0033291714003079
- Barlow, D. H., Allen, L. B., & Choate, M. L. (2004). Toward a unified treatment for emotional disorders. *Behavior Therapy*, *35*, 205–230. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0005-7894(04)80036-4
- Barlow, M. R., Goldsmith Turow, R. E., & Gerhart, J. (2017). Trauma appraisals, emotion regulation difficulties, and self-compassion predict posttraumatic stress symptoms following child abuse. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 65, 37–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2017.01.006

- Barnard, L. K., & Curry, J. F. (2011). Self-compassion: Conceptualizations, correlates, & interventions. *Review of General Psychology*, 15(4), 289–303. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0025754
- Batten, S. V., Follette, V. M., & Aban, I. B. (2002). Experiential avoidance and high-risk sexual behavior in survivors of child sexual abuse. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse*, 10(2), 101–120. https://doi.org/10.1300/j070v10n02_06
- Beauchemin, J., Hutchins, T. L., & Patterson, F. (2008). Mindfulness meditation may lessen anxiety, promote social skills, and improve academic performance among adolescents with learning disabilities. *Complementary Health Practice Review*, 13(1), 34–45. https://doi.org/10.1177/1533210107311624
- Benfer, N., Rogers, T. A., & Bardeen, J. R. (2020). Cognitive fusion potentiates the effect of maladaptive posttraumatic cognitions on posttraumatic stress symptoms. *Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science*, 17, 55–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcbs.2020.06.003
- Benjet, C., Bromet, E., Karam, E. G., Kessler, R. C., McLaughlin, K. A., Ruscio, A. M., Shahly,
 V., Stein, D. J., Petukhova, M., Hill, E., Alonso, J., Atwoli, L., Bunting, B., Bruffaerts,
 R., Caldas-de-Almeida, J. M., de Girolamo, G., Florescu, S., Gureje, O., Huang, Y., . . .
 Koenen, K. C. (2015). The epidemiology of traumatic event exposure worldwide: Results
 from the World Mental Health Survey Consortium. *Psychological Medicine*, 46(02),
 327–343. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0033291715001981
- Berking, M., Neacsiu, A., Comtois, K. A., & Linehan, M. M. (2009). The impact of experiential avoidance on the reduction of depression in treatment for borderline personality disorder. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 47(8), 663–670.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2009.04.011

- Berking, M., & Whitley, B. (2014). *Affection regulation training: A practitioner's manual.*Business Media. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-1022-9_ 1
- Blake, D. D., Weathers, F. W., Nagy, L. M., Kaloupek, D. G., Gusman, F. D., Charney, D. S., & Keane, T. M. (1995). The development of a Clinician-Administered PTSD Scale. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 8(1), 75–90. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02105408.
- Blevins, C. A., Weathers, F. W., Davis, M. T., Witte, T. K., & Domino, J. L. (2015). The Posttraumatic Stress Disorder Checklist for DSM-5 (PCL-5): Development and initial psychometric evaluation. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 28(6), 489–498. https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.22059
- Boden, M. T., Bonn-Miller, M. O., Kashdan, T. B., Alvarez, J., & Gross, J. J. (2012). The interactive effects of emotional clarity and cognitive reappraisal in posttraumatic stress disorder. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 26(1), 233–238.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.janxdis.2011.11.007
- Bonn-Miller, M. O., Vujanovic, A. A., Boden, M. T., & Gross, J. J. (2011). Posttraumatic stress, difficulties in emotion regulation, and coping-oriented marijuana use. *Cognitive Behaviour Therapy*, 40(1), 34–44. https://doi.org/10.1080/16506073.2010.525253
- Boscarino, J. A. (2008). A prospective study of PTSD and early-age heart disease mortality among Vietnam veterans: Implications for surveillance and prevention. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 70(6), 668–676. https://doi.org/10.1097/psy.0b013e31817bccaf
- Boyraz, G., Granda, R., Baker, C. N., Tidwell, L. L., & Waits, B. (2016). Posttraumatic stress, effort regulation, and academic outcomes among college students: A longitudinal study. *Journal of Counseling Psychology* 63, 475–486. https://doi.org/10.1037/cou0000102

- Boyraz, G., Horne, S. G., Owens, A. C., & Armstrong, A. P. (2013). Academic achievement and college persistence of African American students with trauma exposure. *Journal of*Counseling *Psychology*, 60(4), 582–592. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0033672
- Boyraz, G., & Waits, J. B. (2018). Interpersonal trauma and physical health symptoms in college students: Mediating effects of substance use and self-blame. *Journal of Loss and Trauma*, 23(1), 70–87. https://doi.org/10.1080/15325024.2017.1422849
- Brackett, M. A., & Salovey, P. (2004). *Measuring emotional intelligence as a mental ability with the Mayer–Salovey–Caruso Emotional Intelligence Test.* Nova Science Publishers.
- Breslau, N. (2001). Outcomes of posttraumatic stress disorder. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 62(Suppl. 17), 55–59.
- Breslau N., Kessler R. C., Chilcoat H. D., Schultz L. R., Davis G. C., & Andreski P. (1998)

 Trauma and posttraumatic stress disorder in the community: The 1996 Detroit Area

 Survey of Trauma. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 55(7), 626–632.

 https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.55.7.626
- Breslau, N., Lucia, V. C., & Davis, G. C. (2004). Partial PTSD versus full PTSD: An empirical investigation of associated impairment. *Psychological Medicine*, *34*(7), 1205–1214. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291704002594
- Briere, J., & Richards, S. (2007). Self-awareness, affect regulation, and relatedness: Differential sequels of childhood versus adult victimization experiences. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 195(6), 497–503. https://doi.org/10.1097/NMD.0b013e31803044e2
- Britton, W. B. (2019). Can mindfulness be too much of a good thing? The value of a middle way. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 28, 159–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2018.12.011

- Brockman, R., Ciarrochi, J., Parker, P., & Kashdan, T. (2016). Emotion regulation strategies in daily life: Mindfulness, cognitive reappraisal and emotion suppression. *Cognitive Behaviour Therapy*, 46(2), 91–113. https://doi.org/10.1080/16506073.2016.1218926
- Brunellos, N., Davidson, J. R. T., Deahl, M., Kessler, R. C., Mendlewicz, J., Racagni, G., Shalev, A. Y., & Zohar, J. (2001). Posttraumatic stress disorder: Diagnosis and epidemiology, comorbidity, and social consequences, biology and treatment.

 Neuropsychobiology, 43, 150–162. https://doi.org/10.1159/000054884
- Burger, A. J., Lumley, M. A., Carty, J. N., Latsch, D. V., Thakur, E. R., Hyde-Nolan, M. E., Hijazi, A., & Schubiner, H. (2016). The effects of a novel psychological attribution and emotional awareness and expression therapy for chronic musculoskeletal pain: A preliminary, uncontrolled trial. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 81, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2015.12.003
- Campos, B., Shiota, M. N., Keltner, D., Gonzaga, G. C., & Goetz, J. L. (2013). What is shared, what is different? Core relational themes and expressive displays of eight positive emotions. *Cognition & Emotion*, 27(1), 37–52. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699931.2012.683852
- Cannon, W. (1932). Wisdom of the body. W.W. Norton & Company.
- Cardaciotto, L., Herbert, J. D., Forman, E. M., Moitra, E., & Farrow, V. (2008). The assessment of present-moment awareness and acceptance. *Assessment*, 15(2), 204–223. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191107311467
- Cavanaugh, C. E., Hansen, N. B., & Sullivan, T. P. (2009). HIV sexual risk behavior among low-income women experiencing intimate partner violence: The role of posttraumatic stress

- disorder. *AIDS and Behavior*, *14*(2), 318–327. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-009-9623-1
- Cederberg, J. T., Cernvall, M., Dahl, J., von Essen, L., & Ljungman, G. (2015). Acceptance as a mediator for change in acceptance and commitment therapy for persons with chronic pain? *International Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 23(1), 21–29. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12529-015-9494-y
- Center for Collegiate Mental Health. (2019). *Annual report*. https://ccmh.psu.edu/files/2020/03/2019-CCMH-Annual-Report_3.17.20.pdf
- Chamberlain, S. R., & Grant, J. E. (2019). Relationship between quality of life in young adults and impulsivity/compulsivity. *Psychiatry Research*, 271, 253–258. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2018.11.059
- Chase, T., Teng, E. J., Schmidt, N. B., & Zvolensky, M. J. (2018). Emotion regulation difficulties in relation to anxiety, depression, and functional impairment among treatment-seeking smokers. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 206(8), 614–620. https://doi.org/10.1097/nmd.00000000000000866
- Cisler, J. M., Olatunji, B. O., Feldner, M. T., & Forsyth, J. P. (2010). Emotion regulation and the anxiety disorders: An integrative review. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 32(1), 68–82. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10862-009-9161-1
- Cloitre, M., Miranda, R., Stovall-McClough, K. C., & Han, H. (2005). Beyond PTSD: Emotion regulation and interpersonal problems as predictors of functional impairment in survivors of childhood abuse. *Behavior Therapy*, *36*(2), 119–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0005-7894(05)80060-7

- Cloitre, M., Scarvalone, P., & Difede, J. (1997). Posttraumatic stress disorder, self- and interpersonal dysfunction among sexually retraumatized women. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 10(3), 437–452. https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.2490100309
- Clore, G. L., & Ortony, A. (2008). Appraisal theories: How cognition shapes affect into emotion.

 In M. Lewis, J. M. Haviland-Jones, & L. F. Barrett (Eds.), *Handbook of emotions* (p. 628–642). Guilford Press.
- Cole, P. M., Michel, M. K., & Teti, L. O. (2008). The development of emotion regulation and emotion dysregulation: A clinical perspective. *Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development*, *59*(2-3), 73–102. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-5834.1994.tb01278.x
- Connelly, M., & Denney, D. R. (2007). Regulation of emotions during experimental stress in alexithymia. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 62(6), 649–656. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2006.12.008
- Cox, D. W., Motl, T. C., Bakker, A. M., & Lunt, R. A. (2018). Cognitive fusion and post-trauma functioning in veterans: Examining the mediating roles of emotion dysregulation. *Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science*, 8, 1–7.
- Cusack, S. E., Hicks, T. A., Bourdon, J., Sheerin, C. M., Overstreet, C. M., Kendler, K. S., Dick, D. M., & Amstadter, A. B. (2018). Prevalence and predictors of PTSD among a college sample. *Journal of American College Health*, 67(2), 1–9. https://doi/.org/10.1080/07448481.2018.1462824
- Dalrymple, K. L., & Herbert, J. D. (2007). Acceptance and Commitment Therapy for Generalized Social Anxiety Disorder. *Behavior Modification*, 31(5), 543–568. https://doi.org/10.1177/0145445507302037

- Dane, E. (2010). Paying attention to mindfulness and its effects on task performance in the workplace. *Journal of Management*, *37*(4), 997–1018. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206310367948
- Danitz, S. B., Suvak, M. K., & Orsillo, S. M. (2016). The mindful way through the semester:

 Evaluating the impact of integrating an acceptance-based behavioral program into a first-year experience course for undergraduates. *Behavior Therapy*, 47(4), 487–499.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2016.03.002
- Davis, C. G., Lehman, D. R., Silver, R. C., Wortman, C. B., & Ellard, J. H. (1996). Self-blame following a traumatic event: The role of perceived avoidability. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 22(6), 557–567. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167296226002
- Densham, S., Williams, D., Johnson, A., & Turner-Cobb, J. M. (2016). Enhanced psychological flexibility and improved quality of life in chronic fatigue syndrome/myalgic encephalomyelitis. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 88, 42–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2016.07.009
- Diedrich, A., Burger, J., Kirchner, M., & Berking, M. (2017). Adaptive emotion regulation mediates the relationship between self-compassion and depression in individuals with unipolar depression. *Psychology and Psychotherapy: Theory, Research and Practice*, 90, 247–263. https://doi.org/10.1111/papt.12107
- Diedrich, A., Grant, M., Hofmann, S. G., Hiller, W., & Berking, M. (2014). Self-compassion as an emotion regulation strategy in major depressive disorder. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 58, 43–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2014.05.006
- Dixon, M. L., Moodie, C. A., Goldin, P. R., Farb, N., Heimberg, R. G., & Gross, J. J. (2019). Emotion regulation in social anxiety disorder: Reappraisal and acceptance of

- negative self-beliefs. *Biological Psychiatry: Cognitive Neuroscience and Neuroimaging*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpsc.2019.07.009
- Donald, J. N., Atkins, P. W. B., Parker, P. D., Christie, A. M., & Ryan, R. M. (2016). Daily stress and the benefits of mindfulness: Examining the daily and longitudinal relations between present-moment awareness and stress responses. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 65, 30–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2016.09.002
- Donges, U.-S., Kersting, A., Dannlowski, U., Lalee-Mentzel, J., Arolt, V., & Suslow, T. (2005).

 Reduced awareness of others' emotions in unipolar depressed patients. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 193(5), 331–337.

 https://doi.org/10.1097/01.nmd.0000161683.02482.19
- Dvorak, R. D., Sargent, E. M., Kilwein, T. M., Stevenson, B. L., Kuvaas, N. J., & Williams, T. J. (2014). Alcohol use and alcohol-related consequences: Associations with emotion regulation difficulties. *The American Journal of Drug and Alcohol Abuse*, 40(2), 125–130. https://doi.org/10.3109/00952990.2013.877920
- Dzigbede, K. D., Gehl, S. B., & Willoughby, K. (2020). Disaster resiliency of US local governments: Insights to strengthen local response and recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic. *Public Administration Review*, 80(4), 634–643.
- Ehret, A. M., Joormann, J., & Berking, M. (2018). Self-compassion is more effective than acceptance and reappraisal in decreasing depressed mood in currently and formerly depressed individuals. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 226, 220–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2017.10.006

- Ehring, T., & Quack, D. (2010). Emotion regulation difficulties in trauma survivors: The role of trauma type and PTSD symptom severity. *Behavior Therapy*, *41*(4), 587–598. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2010.04.004
- Eichholz, A., Schwartz, C., Meule, A., Heese, J., Neumüller, J., & Voderholzer, U. (2020). Self-compassion and emotion regulation difficulties in obsessive—compulsive disorder. *Clinical Psychology & Psychotherapy*, 27(5), 630–639. https://doi.org/10.1002/cpp.2451
- Eifert, G. H., & Heffner, M. (2003). The effects of acceptance versus control contexts on avoidance of panic-related symptoms. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry*, *34*, 293–312. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbtep.2003.11.001
- Eisenlohr-Moul, T. A., Walsh, E. C., Charnigo, R. J., Lynam, D. R., & Baer, R. A. (2012). The "What" and the "How" of dispositional mindfulness. *Assessment*, 19(3), 276–286. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191112446658
- El-Gabalawy, R., Blaney, C., Tsai, J., Sumner, J. A., & Pietrzak, R. H. (2018). Physical health conditions associated with full and subthreshold PTSD in U.S. military veterans: Results from the National Health and Resilience in Veterans Study. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 227, 849–853. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2017.11.058
- Elhai, J. D., & Simons, J. S. (2007). Trauma exposure and posttraumatic stress disorder predictors of mental health treatment use in college students. *Psychological Services*, 4(1), 38–45. https://doi.org/10.1037/1541-1559.4.1.38
- Eustis, E. H., Hayes-Skelton, S. A., Roemer, L., & Orsillo, S. M. (2016). Reductions in experiential avoidance as a mediator of change in symptom outcome and quality of life in acceptance-based behavior therapy and applied relaxation for generalized anxiety

- disorder. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 87, 188–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2016.09.012
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A. G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G*Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior Research Methods*, 41(4), 1149–1160. https://doi.org/10.3758/brm.41.4.1149
- Feldner, M. T. T., Zvolensky, M. J. J., Eifert, G. H. H., & Spira, A. P. (2003). Emotional avoidance: an experimental test of individual differences and response suppression using biological challenge. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *41*(4), 403–411. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0005-7967(02)00020-7
- Finkelhor, D., Vanderminden, J., Turner, H., Shattuck, A., & Hamby, S. (2016). At-school victimization and violence exposure assessed in a national household survey of children and youth. *Journal of School Violence*, *15*(1), 67–90. https://doi.org/10.1080/15388220.2014.952816
- Finlay-Jones, A. L., Rees, C. S., & Kane, R. T. (2015). Self-compassion, emotion regulation and stress among Australian psychologists: Testing an emotion regulation model of self-compassion using structural equation modeling. *PLoS ONE*, *10*(7), e0133481. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0133481
- Fitzpatrick, S., Khoury, J. E., & Kuo, J. R. (2016). Examining the relationship between emotion regulation deficits and borderline personality disorder features: A daily diary study.

 Counselling Psychology Quarterly, 31(1), 42–58.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/09515070.2016.1211509

- Fledderus, M., Bohlmeijer, E. T., & Pieterse, M. E. (2010). Does experiential avoidance mediate the effects of maladaptive coping styles on psychopathology and mental health? *Behavior Modification*, *34*(6), 503–519. https://doi.org/10.1177/0145445510378379
- Foa, E. B., & Rothbaum, B. O. (1998) *Treating the trauma of rape: Cognitive—behavioral therapy for PTSD*. Guilford Press.
- Fong, M., & Loi, N. M. (2016). The mediating role of self-compassion in student psychological health. *Australian Psychologist*, *51*(6), 431–441. https://doi.org/10.1111/ap.12185
- Forbes, C. N., Tull, M. T., Xie, H., Christ, N. M., Brickman, K., Mattin, M., & Wang, X. (2020). Emotional avoidance and social support interact to predict depression symptom severity one year after traumatic exposure. *Psychiatry Research*, *112746*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2020.112746
- Ford, B. Q., & Gross, J. J. (2018). Emotion regulation: Why beliefs matter. *Canadian Psychology*, 59(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1037/cap0000142
- Ford, B. Q., Lam, P., John, O. P., & Mauss, I. B. (2018). The psychological health benefits of accepting negative emotions and thoughts: Laboratory, diary, and longitudinal evidence. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *115*(6), 1075–1092. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspp0000157
- Forkus, S. R., Breines, J. G., & Weiss, N. H. (2019). PTSD and alcohol misuse: Examining the mediating role of fear of self-compassion among military veterans. *Psychological trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy*. *12*(4), 364–372. http://doi.org/10.1037/tra0000481

- Fox, H. C., Hong, K. A., & Sinha, R. (2008). Difficulties in emotion regulation and impulse control in recently abstinent alcoholics compared with social drinkers. *Addictive Behaviors*, *33*(2), 388–394. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2007.10.002
- Frewen, P., Lane, R. D., Neufeld, R. W. J., Densmore, M., Stevens, T., & Lanius, R. (2008a).

 Neural correlates of levels of emotional awareness during trauma script-imagery in posttraumatic stress disorder. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 70(1), 27–31.

 https://doi.org/10.1097/psy.0b013e31815f66d4
- Frewen, P. A., Lanius, R. A., Dozois, D. J., Neufeld, W., Pain, C., Hopper, J., Densmore, M., & Stevens, T. K. (2008b). Clinical and neural correlates of alexithymia in posttraumatic stress disorder. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 117, 171–181. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-843X.117.1.171
- Frijda, N. H. (1986). *The emotion*. Cambridge University Press.
- Fulton, P. R. (2005). Mindfulness as clinical training. In C. K. Germer, R. D. Siegel, & P. R. Fulton (Eds.), *Mindfulness and psychotherapy* (pp. 55–72). Guilford Press.
- Gaher, R. M., Simons, J. S., Hahn, A. M., Hofman, N. L., Hansen, J., & Buchkoski, J. (2014).

 An experience sampling study of PTSD and alcohol-related problems. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors: Journal of the Society of Psychologists in Addictive Behaviors*, 28(4), 1013–1025. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0037257
- Garfinkel, S. N., & Critchley, H. D. (2016). Threat and the body: How the heart supports fear processing. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 20(1), 34–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2015.10.005
- Germer, C. K., & Neff, K. D. (2013). Self-compassion in clinical practice. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 69(8), 856–867. https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.22021

- Ghorbani, F., Khosravani, V., Sharifi Bastan, F., & Jamaati Ardakani, R. (2017). The alexithymia, emotion regulation, emotion regulation difficulties, positive and negative affects, and suicidal risk in alcohol-dependent outpatients. *Psychiatry Research*, 252, 223–230. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2017.03.005
- Gianini, L. M., White, M. A., & Masheb, R. M. (2013). Eating pathology, emotion regulation, and emotional overeating in obese adults with binge eating disorder. *Eating Behaviors*, 14(3), 309–313. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eatbeh.2013.05.008
- Gilbert, P. (2010). Compassion focused therapy: Distinctive features. Routledge.
- Gillan, C. M., Papmeyer, M., Morein-Zamir, S., Sahakian, B. J., Fineberg, N. A., Robbins, T. W., & de Wit, S. (2011). Disruption in the balance between goal-directed behavior and habit learning in obsessive-compulsive disorder. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 168(7), 718–726. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2011.10071062
- Gillanders, D. T., Sinclair, A. K., MacLean, M., & Jardine, K. (2015). Illness cognitions, cognitive fusion, avoidance, and self-compassion as predictors of distress and quality of life in a heterogeneous sample of adults, after cancer. *Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science*, 4(4), 300–311. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcbs.2015.07.003
- Glomb, T. M., Duffy, M. K., Bono, J. E., & Yang, T. (2011). Mindfulness at work. In J.

 Martocchio, H. Liao, & A. Joshi (Eds.), Research in Personnel and Human Resource

 Management (pp. 115–157). https://doi.org/10.1108/S0742-7301(2011)0000030005
- Goldin, P. R., & Gross, J. J. (2010). Effects of mindfulness-based stress reduction (MBSR) on emotion regulation in social anxiety disorder. *Emotion*, 10(1), 83–91. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018441

- Goldin, P. R., McRae, K., Ramel, W., & Gross, J. J. (2008). The neural bases of emotion regulation: Reappraisal and suppression of negative emotion. *Biological Psychiatry*, *63*(6), 577–586. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2007.05.031
- Goldsmith, R. E., Freyd, J. J., & DePrince, A. P. (2012). Betrayal trauma: Associations with psychological and physical symptoms in young adults. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 27, 547–567. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260511421672
- Goodman, F. R., Kashdan, T. B., Mallard, T. T., & Schumann, M. (2014). A brief mindfulness and yoga intervention with an entire NCAA Division I athletic team: An initial investigation. *Psychology of Consciousness: Theory, Research, and Practice, 1*(4), 339–356. https://doi.org/10.1037/cns0000022
- Grant, J. E., & Potenza, M. N. (2012) *The Oxford handbook of impulse control disorders*. Oxford University Press.
- Gratz, K. L., Bardeen, J. R., Levy, R., Dixon-Gordon, K. L., & Tull, M. T. (2015). Mechanisms of change in an emotion regulation group therapy for deliberate self-harm among women with borderline personality disorder. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 65, 29–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2014.12.005
- Gratz, K. L., & Gunderson, J. G. (2006). Preliminary data on an acceptance-based emotion regulation group intervention for deliberate self-harm among women with borderline personality disorder. *Behavior Therapy*, *37*, 25–35.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2005.03.002
- Gratz, K. L., Moore, K. E., & Tull, M. T. (2016). The role of emotion dysregulation in the presence, associated difficulties, and treatment of borderline personality disorder.

- *Personality Disorders: Theory, Research, and Treatment, 7*(4), 344–353. https://doi.org/10.1037/per0000198
- Gratz, K. L., & Roemer, L. (2004). Multidimensional assessment of emotion regulation and dysregulation: Development, factor structure, and initial validation of the difficulties in emotion regulation scale. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 26(1), 41–54. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:JOBA.0000007455.08539.94
- Greenberg, L. P., Martindale, S. L., Fils-Aimé, L. R., & Dolan, S. L. (2016). Distress tolerance and impulsivity are associated with drug and alcohol use consequences in an online community sample. *Journal of Cognitive Psychotherapy*, 30(1), 50–59. https://doi.org/10.1891/0889-8391.30.1.50
- Greenberg, L. S. (2002). Emotion-focused therapy: Coaching clients to work through their feelings. American Psychological Association.
- Greeson, J. M., Smoski, M. J., Suarez, E. C., Brantley, J. G., Ekblad, A. G., Lynch, T. R., & Wolever, R. Q. (2015). Decreased symptoms of depression after mindfulness-based stress reduction: potential moderating effects of religiosity, spirituality, trait mindfulness, sex, and age. *The Journal of Alternative and Complementary Medicine*, 21(3), 166–174. https://doi.org/10.1089/acm.2014.0285
- Gross, J. J. (1998). The emerging field of emotion regulation: An integrative review. *Review of General Psychology*, 2(3), 271–299. https://doi.org/10.1037/1089-2680.2.3.271
- Gross, J. J. (2002). Emotion regulation: Affective, cognitive, and social consequences.

 *Psychophysiology, 39(3), 281–291. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0048577201393198
- Gross, J. J. (2015). Emotion Regulation: Current status and future prospects. *Psychological Inquiry*, 26(1), 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1080/1047840x.2014.940781

- Gross, J. J., & Jazaieri, H. (2014). Emotion, emotion regulation, and psychopathology. *Clinical Psychological Science*, 2(4), 387–401. https://doi.org/10.1177/2167702614536164
- Gruber, J., Harvey, A. G., & Gross, J. J. (2012). When trying is not enough: Emotion regulation and the effort–success gap in bipolar disorder. *Emotion*, *12*(5), 997–1203. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0026822
- Hair, J. F., Black, W. C., Babin, B. J., & Anderson, R. E. (2010). *Multivariate data analysis* (7th ed.). Prentice-Hall.
- Hall, B. B., Yip, P. S. Y., Garabiles, M. R., Lao, C. K., Chan, E. W. W., & Marx, B. P. (2019).
 Psychometric validation of the PTSD Checklist-5 among female Filipino migrant workers. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, 10(1), 1571378.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/20008198.2019.1571378
- Hallion, L. S., Steinman, S. A., Tolin, D. F., & Diefenbach, G. J. (2018). Psychometric
 properties of the Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale (DERS) and its short forms in adults with emotional disorders. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *9*, 539.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00539
- Hayes, S. C., Barnes-Holmes, D., & Roche, B. (2001). *Relational frame theory: A post-Skinnerian account of human language and cognition*. Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers.
- Hayes, S. C., Strosahl, K., & Wilson, K. G. (1999). Acceptance and Commitment Therapy: An experiential approach to behavior change. Guilford Press.
- Hayes, S. C., Strosahl, K. D., & Wilson, K. G. (2012). Acceptance and commitment therapy: The process and practice of mindful change (2nd ed.). Guilford Press.

- Hayes, S. C., Wilson, K. G., Gifford, E. V., Follette, V. M., & Strosahl, K. (1996). Experiential avoidance and behavioral disorders: A functional dimensional approach to diagnosis and treatment. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 64(6), 1152–1168. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006x.64.6.1152
- Haynos, A. F., Wang, S. B., & Fruzzetti, A. E. (2018). Restrictive eating is associated with emotion regulation difficulties in a non-clinical sample. *Eating Disorders*, 26(1), 5–12. https://doi.org/10.1080/10640266.2018.1418264
- Hellerstedt, R., Johansson, M., & Anderson, M. C. (2016). Tracking the intrusion of unwanted memories into awareness with event-related potentials. *Neuropsychologia*, 89, 510–523. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2016.07.008
- Henschel, A. V., Williams, J. L., & Hardt, M. M. (2021). The role of experiential avoidance and emotion regulation in DSM-5 posttraumatic stress symptomatology. *Journal of Loss and Trauma*, 26(6), 527–539. https://doi.org/10.1080/15325024.2020.1841506
- Heshmati, R., Azmoodeh, S., & Caltabiano, M. L. (2021). Pathway linking different types of childhood trauma to somatic symptoms in a subclinical sample of female college students: the mediating role of experiential avoidance. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 209(7), 497–504. https://doi.org/10.1097/NMD.0000000000001323
- Hiraoka, R., Meyer, E. C., Kimbrel, N. A., DeBeer, B. B., Bird Gulliver, S., & Morissette, S. B. (2015). Self-compassion as a predictive predictor of PTSD symptom severity among trauma-exposed U.S. Iraq and Afghanistan war veterans. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 28, 127–133. https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.21995
- Hoffart, A., Øktedalen, T., & Langkaas, T. F. (2015). Self-compassion influences PTSD symptoms in the process of change in trauma-focused cognitive-behavioral therapies: A

- study of within-person processes. *Frontiers in Psychology, 6*, 1273. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01273
- Holowka, D. W., & Marx, B. P. (2012). Assessing PTSD-related functional impairment and quality of life. In J. G. Beck & D. M. Sloan (Eds.), *The Oxford handbook of traumatic* stress disorders. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780195399066.013.0021
- Horowitz, M., Wilner, N., & Alvarez, W. (1979). Impact of Event Scale: A measure of subjective stress. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 41(3), 209–2018.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/00006842-197905000-00004
- Howell, A. J., & Passmore, H. (2019). Acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT) to reduce depression: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 260(1), 728–737. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2019.09.040
- Hughes, L. S., Clark, J., Colclough, J. A., Dale, E., & McMillan, D. (2017). Acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT) for chronic pain: A systematic review and meta-analyses. *Clinical Journal of Pain*, 33, 552–568.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/AJP.0000000000000425
- Hwang, H., & Matsumoto, D. (2019). Functions of emotions. In R. Biswas-Diener & E. Diener (Eds.), *Noba textbook series: Psychology*. DEF Publishers.
- Hwang, S., Kim, G., Yang, J. W., & Yang, E. (2016). The moderating effects of age on the relationships of self-compassion, self-esteem, and mental health. *Japanese Psychological Research*, 58(2), 194–205. https://doi.org/10.1111/jpr.12109

- Jazaieri, H., McGonigal, K., Lee, I. A., Jinpa, T., Doty, J. R., Gross, J. J., & Goldin, P. R. (2017). Altering the trajectory of affect and affect regulation: The impact of compassion training. *Mindfulness*, 9(1), 283–293. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-017-0773-3
- John, O. P., & Gross, J. J. (2004). Healthy and unhealthy emotion regulation: Personality processes, individual differences, and life span development. *Journal of Personality*, 72(6), 1301–1334. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.2004.00298.x
- Johnson, S. U., Ebrahimi, O. V., & Hoffart, A. (2020). PTSD symptoms among health workers and public service providers during the COVID-19 outbreak. *PloS one*, *15*(10), e0241032. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0241032
- Joormann, J., & Gotlib, I. H. (2010). Emotion regulation in depression: Relation to cognitive inhibition. *Cognition & Emotion*, 24(2), 281–298. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699930903407948
- Kashdan, T. B., Barrios, V., Forsyth, J. P., & Steger, M. F. (2006). Experiential avoidance as a generalized psychological vulnerability: Comparisons with coping and emotion regulation strategies. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 44(9), 1301–1320. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2005.10.003
- Kearney, D. J., Malte, C. A., McManus, C., Martinez, M. E., Felleman, B., & Simpson, T. L. (2013). Loving-kindness mediation for posttraumatic stress disorder: A pilot study. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 26, 426–434. https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.21832.
- Kearney, D. J., McDermott, K., Malte, C., Martinez, M., & Simpson, T. L. (2011). Association of participation in a mindfulness program with measures of PTSD, depression and quality of life in a veteran sample. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 68(1), 101–116. https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.20853

- Kelley, L. P., Weathers, F. W., McDevitt-Murphy, M. E., Eakin, D. E., & Flood, A. M. (2009). A comparison of PTSD symptom patterns in three types of civilian trauma. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 22(3), 227–235. https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.20406
- Kelson, J., Rollin, A., Ridout, B., & Campbell, A. (2019). Internet-delivered Acceptance and Commitment Therapy for anxiety treatment: Systematic review. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 21(1), e12530. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.12530
- Kennell and Associates, Inc. DoD response to data request from the Committee on the Assessment of Ongoing Efforts in the Treatment of PTSD. Falls Church, VA: Sep 12, 2013.
- Kern, S. M., Stacy, S. E., Kozina, R. M., Ripley, A. J., & Clapp, J. D. (2018). Exploring the relation between posttraumatic stress disorder and interpersonal outcomes: The role of social acknowledgment and trauma type. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 75(1), 132–145. https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.22693
- Kessler, R. C., & Frank, R. G. (1997). The impact of psychiatric disorders on work loss days. *Psychological Medicine*, 27(4), 861–873. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0033291797004807
- Kilpatrick, D. G., Resnick, H. S., Milanak, M. E., Miller, M. W., Keyes, K. M., & Friedman, M. J. (2013). National estimates of exposure to traumatic events and PTSD prevalence using DSM-IV and DSM-5 criteria. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 26(5), 537–547. https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.21848
- King, D., Taft, C., King, L., Hammond, C., & Stone, E. (2006). Directionality of the association between social support and posttraumatic stress disorder: A longitudinal investigation.

 Journal of Applied Social Psychology, 36(12), 2980–2992.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0021-9029.2006.00138.x

- Klainin-Yobas, P., Cho, M. A. A., & Creedy, D. (2012). Efficacy of mindfulness-based interventions on depressive symptoms among people with mental disorders: A meta-analysis. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 49(1), 109–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2011.08.014
- Kleinginna, P. R., & Kleinginna, A. M. (1981). A categorized list of emotion definitions, with suggestions for a consensual definition. *Motivation and Emotion*, *5*(4), 345–379. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00992553
- Kleykamp, M. (2013). Unemployment, earnings, and enrollment among post 9/11 veterans.

 Social Science Research, 42(3), 836–851.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssresearch.2012.12.017
- Koechlin, H., Coakley, R., Schechter, N., Werner, C., & Kossowsky, J. (2018). The role of emotion regulation in chronic pain: A systematic literature review. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 107, 38–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2018.02.002
- Kring, A. M., & Werner, K. H. (2004). Emotion regulation and psychopathology. In P. Philippot & R. S. Feldman (Eds.), *The regulation of emotion*. Erlbaum.
- Kuyken, W., Watkins, E., Holden, E., White, K., Taylor, R. S., Byford, S., Evans, A., Radford, S., Teasdale, J. D., & Dalgleish, T. (2010). How does mindfulness-based cognitive therapy work? *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 48(11), 1105–1112. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2010.08.003
- Lanesman, T. H., Gouse, H., Bantjes, J., Stein, D. J., & Lochner, C. (2019). Correlates and predictors of impulsivity in adults with methamphetamine use disorder. *Journal of Substance Use*, 24(4), 361–367. https://doi.org/10.1080/14659891.2019.1572803

- Lang, A. J., Schnurr, P. P., Jain, S., He, F., Walser, R. D., Bolton, E., Benedek, D. M., Norman, S. B., Sylvers, P., Flashman, L., Strauss, J., Raman, R., & Chard, K. M. (2017).
 Randomized controlled trial of acceptance and commitment therapy for distress and impairment in OEF/OIF/OND veterans. *Psychological Trauma*, 9(Suppl. 1), 74–84.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/tra0000127
- Lavender, J. M., Tull, M. T., DiLillo, D., Messman-Moore, T., & Gratz, K. L. (2017).

 Development and validation of a state-based measure of emotion dysregulation: The

 State Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale (S-DERS). *Assessment*, 24(2), 197–209.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191115601218
- Leary, M. R. (2015). Emotional responses to interpersonal rejection. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, 17(4), 435–441.
- Leary, M. R., Tate, E. B., Adams, C. E., Batts Allen, A., & Hancock, J. (2007). Self-compassion and reactions to unpleasant self-relevant events: The implications of treating oneself kindly. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 92(5), 887–904. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.92.5.887
- Lee, E. K., & Song, M. K. (2018). Effectiveness of ACT-based group counseling for depression and anxiety: A meta-analysis. *The Korean Journal of Counseling and Psychotherapy*, 30(3), 635–661. https://doi.org/10.23844/kjcp.2018.08.30.3.635
- Lejuez, C. W., Hopko, D. R., Acierno, R., Daughters, S. B., & Pagoto, S. L. (2011). Ten-year revision of the brief behavioral activation treatment for depression: Revised treatment manual. *Behavior Modification*, *35*(2), 111–61. https://doi.org/10.1177/0145445510390929

- Lench, H. C., Flores, S. A., & Bench, S. W. (2011). Discrete emotions predict changes in cognition, judgment, experience, behavior, and physiology: A meta-analysis of experimental emotion elicitations. *Psychological Bulletin*, 137(5), 834–855. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0024244
- Levy-Gigi, E., Bonanno, G. A., Shapiro, A. R., Richter-Levin, G., Kéri, S., & Sheppes, G. (2015). Emotion regulatory flexibility sheds light on the elusive relationship between repeated traumatic exposure and posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms. *Clinical Psychological Science*, 4(1), 28–39. https://doi.org/10.1177/2167702615577783
- Li, C. C., & Shun, S. C. (2016). Understanding self-care coping styles in patients with chronic heart failure: A systematic review. *European Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing*, 15(1), 12–9. https://doi.org/10.1177/1474515115572046
- Li, I., Sato, H., Watanabe, N., Kondo, M., Masuda, A., Hayes, S. C., & Akechi, T. (2019).
 Psychological flexibility-based interventions versus first-line psychosocial interventions for substance use disorders: Systematic review and meta-analyses of randomized controlled trials. *Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science*, 13, 109–120.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcbs.2019.07.003
- Linardon, J., Gleeson, J., Yap, K., Murphy, K., & Brennan, L. (2018). Meta-analysis of the effects of third-wave behavioural interventions on disordered eating and body image concerns: Implications for eating disorder prevention. *Cognitive Behaviour Therapy*, 48(1), 15–38. https://doi.org/10.1080/16506073.2018.1517389
- Linehan, M. M. (2013). Cognitive behavioral treatments for borderline personality disorder.

 Guilford Press.

- Lubman, D. I., Yücel, M., & Hall, W. D. (2007). Substance use and the adolescent brain: A toxic combination? *Journal of Psychopharmacology*, 21(8), 792–794. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269881107078309
- Ma, X., Tamir, M., & Miyamoto, Y. (2018). A socio-cultural instrumental approach to emotion regulation: Culture and the regulation of positive emotions. *Emotion*, 18(1), 138–152. https://doi.org/10.1037/emo0000315
- Macbeth, A., & Gumley, A. (2012). Exploring compassion: A meta-analysis of the association between self-compassion and psychopathology. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *32*, 545–552. https://doi.org/10.10.16/j.cpr.2012.06.003.
- Machell, K. A., Goodman, F. R., & Kashdan, T. B. (2014). Experiential avoidance and wellbeing: A daily diary analysis. *Cognition and Emotion*, 29(2), 351–359. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699931.2014.911143
- Malesza, M. (2019). Stress and delay discounting: The mediating role of difficulties in emotion regulation. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *144*, 56–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2019.02.035
- Mantzios, M. (2014). Exploring the relationship between worry and impulsivity in military recruits: The role of mindfulness and self-compassion as potential mediators. *Stress and Health*, *30*(5), 397–404. https://doi.org/10.1002/smi.2617
- Marx, B. P., & Sloan, D. M. (2002). The role of emotion in the psychological functioning of adult survivors of childhood sexual abuse. *Behavior Therapy*, *33*(4), 563–577. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0005-7894(02)80017-x

- Marx, B. P., & Sloan, D. M. (2005). Peritraumatic dissociation and experiential avoidance as predictors of posttraumatic stress symptomatology. *Behavior Research and Therapy*, 43, 569–583. https://doi:10.1016/j.brat.2004.04.004
- Masuda, A., & Tully, E. C. (2012). The role of mindfulness and psychological flexibility in somatization, depression, anxiety, and general psychological distress in a nonclinical college sample. *Journal of Evidence-Based Complementary & Alternative Medicine*, 17(1), 66–71. https://doi.org/10.1177/2156587211423400
- May, C. L., & Wisco, B. E. (2016). Defining trauma: How level of exposure and proximity affect risk for posttraumatic stress disorder. *Psychological Trauma*, 8(2), 233–40. https://doi.org/10.1037/tra0000077
- Mayer, J. D., Salovey, P., & Caruso, D. R. (2004). Emotional intelligence: Theory, findings, and implications. *Psychological Inquiry*, 15, 197–215.
 https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327965pli1503_02.
- McLaughlin, K. A., Hatzenbuehler, M. L., Mennin, D. S., & Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (2011).

 Emotion dysregulation and adolescent psychopathology: A prospective study. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 49(9), 544–554. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2011.06.003
- McLean, L. M., Toner, B., Jackson, J., Desrocher, M., & Stuckless, N. (2006). The relationship between childhood sexual abuse, complex post-traumatic stress disorder and alexithymia in two outpatient samples: Examination of women treated in community and institutional clinics. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse*, 15(3), 1–17.

 https://doi.org/10.1300/j070v15n03_01
- McRae, K., & Gross, J. J. (2020). Emotion regulation. *Emotion*, 20(1), 1–9. https://dx.doi.org/10.1037/emo0000703

- Medrano, L. A., & Trogolo, M. (2016). Construct validity of the Difficulties in Emotion
 Regulation Scale: Further evidence using confirmatory factor analytic approach.
 Abnormal and Behavioural Psychology, 2(2).
 https://doi.org/10.4172/2472-0496.1000117
- Mennin, D., & Farach, F. (2007). Emotion and evolving treatments for adult psychopathology. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, 14(4), 329–352.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2850.2007.00094.x
- Mennin, D. S., Heimberg, R. G., Turk, C. L., & Fresco, D. M. (2005). Preliminary evidence for an emotion dysregulation model of generalized anxiety disorder. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *43*(10), 1281–1310. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2004.08.008
- Mennin, D. S., Heimberg, R. G., Turk, C. L., & Fresco, D. M. (2006). Applying an emotion regulation framework to integrative approaches to generalized anxiety disorder. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, *9*(1), 85–90. https://doi.org/10.1093/clipsy.9.1.85
- Mkrtchian, A., Aylward, J., Dayan, P., Roiser, J. P., & Robinson, O. J. (2017). Modeling avoidance in mood and anxiety disorders using reinforcement learning. *Biological Psychiatry*, 82(7), 532–539. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2017.01.017
- Moran, D. J. (2011). ACT for leadership: Using acceptance and commitment training to develop crisis-resilient change managers. *International Journal of Behavioral Consultation and Therapy*, 6(4), 341–355. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0100915
- Morrell, H. E. R., Cohen, L. M., & McChargue, D. E. (2010). Depression vulnerability predicts cigarette smoking among college students: Gender and negative reinforcement expectancies as contributing factors. *Addictive Behaviors*, *35*(6), 607–611. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2010.02.011

- Morton, J., Snowdon, S., Gopold, M., & Guymer, E. (2012). Acceptance and commitment therapy group treatment for symptoms of borderline personality disorder: A public sector pilot study. *Cognitive and Behavioral Practice*, *19*, 527–544. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpra.2012.03.005
- Murphy, M. J., Mermelstein, L. C., Edwards, K. M., & Gidycz, C. A. (2012). The benefits of dispositional mindfulness in physical health: A longitudinal study of female college students. *Journal of American College Health*, 60(5), 341–348.
- Neff, K. D. (2003a). The development and validation of a scale to measure self-compassion. *Self and Identity*, 2(3), 223–250. https://doi.org/10.1080/15298860309027
- Neff, K. D. (2003b). Self-compassion: An alternative conceptualization of a healthy attitude toward oneself. *Self and Identity*, 2(2), 85–101. https://doi.org/10.1080/15298860309032
- Neff, K. D., & Germer, C. (2012). A pilot study and randomized control trial of the mindful self-compassion program. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 69(1), 28–44. https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.21923
- Neff, K. D., & McGehee, P. (2010). Self-compassion and psychological resilience among adolescents and young adults. *Self and Identity*, *9*(3), 225–240. https://doi.org/10.1080/15298860902979307
- Neff, K. D., & Vonk, R. (2009). Self-compassion versus global self-esteem: Two different ways of relating to oneself. *Journal of Personality*, 77(1), 23–50. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.2008.00537.x
- Neff, K. D., Hsieh, Y. P., & Dejitterat, K. (2005). Self-compassion, achievement goals, and coping with academic failure. *Self and Identity*, 4(3), 263–287. https://doi.org/10.1080/13576500444000317

- Neff, K. D., Kirkpatrick, K. L., & Rude, S. S. (2007). Self-compassion and adaptive psychological functioning. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 41(1), 139–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2006.03.004
- Neff, K. D., Pisitsungkagarn, K., & Hsieh, Y. P. (2008). Self-compassion and self-construal in the United States, Thailand, and Taiwan. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, *39*(3), 267–285. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022022108314544
- Neff, K. D., Tóth-Király, I., Knox, M. C., Kuchar, A., & Davidson, O. (2021). The development and validation of the State Self-Compassion Scale (long-and short form). *Mindfulness*, *12*(1), 121–140.
- Norrholm, S. D., & Jovanovic, T. (2018). Fear processing, psychophysiology, and PTSD.

 *Harvard Review of Psychiatry, 26(3), 129–141.

 https://doi.org/10.1097/hrp.0000000000000189
- Nyklíček, I., & Kuijpers, K. F. (2008). Effects of mindfulness-based stress reduction intervention on psychological well-being and quality of life: Is increased mindfulness indeed the mechanism? *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, *35*(3), 331–340. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12160-008-9030-2
- Oatley, K., & Jenkins, J. M. (1992). Human emotions: Function and dysfunction. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 43(1), 55–85. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ps.43.020192.000415
- O'Bryan, E. M., Kraemer, K. M., Johnson, A. L., McLeish, A. C., & McLaughlin, L. E. (2017). Examining the role of attentional control in terms of specific emotion regulation difficulties. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 108, 158–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2016.12.015

- O'Bryan, E. M., McLeish, A. C., Kraemer, K. M., & Fleming, J. B. (2015). Emotion regulation difficulties and posttraumatic stress disorder symptom cluster severity among traumaexposed college students. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy*, 7(2), 131–137. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0037764
- Ophuis, R. H., Olij, B. F., Polinder, S., & Haagsma, J. A. (2018). Prevalence of post-traumatic stress disorder, acute stress disorder and depression following violence related injury treated at the emergency department: A systematic review. *BMC Psychiatry*, 18(1), 311. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-018-1890-9
- Overstreet, C., Berenz, E. C., Kendler, K. S., Dick, D. M., & Amstadter, A. B. (2017). Predictors and mental health outcomes of potentially traumatic event exposure. *Psychiatry Research*, 247, 296–304. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2016.10.047
- Pacella, M. L., Hruska, B., & Delahanty, D. L. (2013). The physical health consequences of PTSD and PTSD symptoms: A meta-analytic review. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 27(1), 33–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.janxdis.2012.08.004
- Peterson, C., DeGue, S., Florence, C., & Lokey, C. N. (2017). Lifetime economic burden of rape Among U.S. adults. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 52(6), 691–701. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2016.11.014
- Pickett, S. M., Barbaro, N., & Mello, D. (2015). The relationship between subjective sleep disturbance, sleep quality, and emotion regulation difficulties in a sample of college

- students reporting trauma exposure. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy*, 8(1), 1–9. http://doi.org/10.1037/tra0000064
- Pietrzak, R. H., Goldstein, M. B., Malley, J. C., Johnson, D. C., & Southwick, S. M.
 (2009). Subsyndromal posttraumatic stress disorder is associated with health and psychosocial difficulties in veterans of Operations Enduring Freedom and Iraqi Freedom.
 Depression and Anxiety, 26(8), 739–744. https://doi.org/10.1002/da.20574
- Pisetsky, E. M., Haynos, A. F., Lavender, J. M., Crow, S. J., & Peterson, C. B. (2017).

 Associations between emotion regulation difficulties, eating disorder symptoms, non-suicidal self-injury, and suicide attempts in a heterogeneous eating disorder sample.

 Comprehensive Psychiatry, 73, 143–150.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.comppsych.2016.11.012
- Pommier, E., Neff, K. D., & Tóth-Király, I. (2019). The development and validation of the Compassion Scale. *Assessment*, 00(0), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191119874108
- Pugach, C. P., Campbell, A. A., & Wisco, B. E. (2019). Emotion regulation in posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD): Rumination accounts for the association between emotion regulation difficulties and PTSD severity. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 76(3), 1–18. http://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.22879
- Purnamaningsih, E. H. (2017). Personality and emotion regulation strategies. *International Journal of Psychological Research*, 10(1), 53–60. https://doi.org/10.21500/20112084.2040
- Radomski, S., Blayney, J. A., Prince, M. A., & Read, J. P. (2016). PTSD and pregaming in college students: A risky practice for an at-risk group. *Substance Use & Misuse*, *51*(8), 1034–1046. https://doi.org/10.3109/10826084.2016.1152497

- Raes, F. (2010). Rumination and worry as mediators of the relationship between self-compassion and depression and anxiety. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 48(6), 757–761. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2010.01.023
- Ratcliffe, M., & Bortolan, A. (2021). Emotion regulation in a disordered world: Understanding borderline personality disorder. *Time and Body: Phenomenological and Psychopathological Approaches*, 177–200.
- Ravn, S. L., Vang, M. L., Vaegter, H. B., & Andersen, T. E. (2017). Pain-related acceptance as a mediator in the fear avoidance model of chronic pain: A preliminary study. *Pain Medicine*. 0, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1093/pm/pnx223
- Read, J. P., Ouimette, P., White, J., Colder, C., & Farrow, S. (2011). Rates of DSM–IV–TR trauma exposure and posttraumatic stress disorder among newly matriculated college students. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy, 3*(2), 148–156. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021260
- Reed, E., Amaro, H., Matsumoto, A., & Kaysen, D. (2009). The relation between interpersonal violence and substance use among a sample of university students: Examination of the role of victim and perpetrator substance use. *Addictive Behaviors*, *34*(3), 316–318. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2008.10.015
- Reisner, S. L., Mimiaga, M. J., Safren, S. A., & Mayer, K. H. (2009). Stressful or traumatic life events, post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) symptoms, and HIV sexual risk taking among men who have sex with men. *AIDS Care*, *21*(12), 1481–1489. https://doi.org/10.1080/09540120902893258

- Robinson, M. D., & Clore, G. L. (2002). Belief and feeling: Evidence for an accessibility model of emotional self-report. *Psychological Bulletin*, *128*(6), 934. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.128.6.934
- Roemer, L., Lee, J. K., Salters-Pedneault, K., Erisman, S. M., Orsillo, S. M., & Mennin, D. S. (2009). Mindfulness and emotion regulation difficulties in generalized anxiety disorder: Preliminary evidence for independent and overlapping contributions. *Behavior Therapy*, 40(2), 142–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2008.04.001
- Roemer, L., & Orsillo, S. M. (2010). *Mindfulness-and acceptance-based behavioral therapies in practice*. Guilford Press.
- Roemer, L., Orsillo, S. M., & Salters-Pedneault, K. (2008). Efficacy of an acceptance-based behavior therapy for generalized anxiety disorder: Evaluation in a randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 76(6), 1083–1089. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0012720
- Romer, D. (2010). Adolescent risk taking, impulsivity, and brain development: Implications for prevention. *Developmental Psychobiology*, 52(3), 263–276. https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.20442
- Rosenstein, L. K., Ellison, W. D., Walsh, E., Chelminski, I., Dalrymple, K., & Zimmerman, M. (2018). The role of emotion regulation difficulties in the connection between childhood emotional abuse and borderline personality features. *Personality Disorders: Theory,**Research, and Treatment, 9(6), 590. http://doi.org/10.1037/per0000294
- Rude, S., & McCarthy, C. (2003). Brief report. *Cognition & Emotion*, *17*(5), 799–806. https://doi.org//10.1080/02699930302283

- Russell, J. A. (2009). Emotion, core affect, and psychological construction. *Cognition & Emotion*, 23(7), 1259–1283. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699930902809375
- Ryder, A. L., Azcarate, P. M., & Cohen, B. E. (2018). PTSD and physical health. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 20(12), 116. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-018-0977-9
- Sahdra, B. K., Ciarrochi, J., Parker, P. D., Basarkod, G., Bradshaw, E. L., & Baer, R. (2017). Are people mindful in different ways? Disentangling the quantity and quality of mindfulness in latent profiles and exploring their links to mental health and life effectiveness.

 European Journal of Personality, 31(4), 347–365. https://doi.org/10.1002/per.2108
- Scherer, K. R. (1987). Towards a dynamic theory of emotion: The component process model of affective states. *Geneva Studies in Emotion and Communication*, 1, 1Á98.
- Schmader, T., & Lickel, B. (2006). The approach and avoidance function of guilt and shame emotions: Comparing reactions to self-caused and other-caused wrongdoing. *Motivation* and Emotion, *30*, 42–55. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-006-9006-0
- Schnell, K., & Herpertz, S. C. (2018). Emotion regulation and social cognition as functional targets of mechanism-based psychotherapy in major depression with comorbid personality pathology. *Journal of Personality Disorders*, 32(Suppl.), 12–35. https://doi.org/10.1521/pedi.2018.32.supp.12
- Schnurr, P. P., & Lunney, C. A. (2016). Symptom benchmarks of improved quality of life in PTSD. *Depression and Anxiety*, *33*(3), 247–255. https://doi.org/10.1002/da.22477
- Scoglio, A. A. J., Rudat, D. A., Garvert, D., Jarmolowski, M., Jackson, C., & Herman, J. L. (2015). Self-compassion and responses to trauma: The role of emotion regulation.
 Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 33(13), 2016–2036.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260515622296

- Seligowski, A. V., Lee, D. J., Bardeen, J. R., & Orcutt, H. K. (2014). Emotion regulation and posttraumatic stress symptoms: A meta-analysis. *Cognitive Behaviour Therapy*, 44(2), 87–102. https://doi.org/10.1080/16506073.2014.980753
- Shepherd, L., & Wild, J. (2014). Emotion regulation, physiological arousal and PTSD symptoms in trauma-exposed individuals. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental**Psychiatry, 45(3), 360–367. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbtep.2014.03.002
- Simpson, P. A., Mars, T., & Esteves, J. E. (2017). A systematic review of randomized controlled trials using acceptance and commitment therapy as an intervention in the management of non-malignant, chronic pain in adults. *International Journal of Osteopathic Medicine*, 24, 18–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijosm.2017.03.001
- Smith, A. J., Holohan, D. R., & Jones, R. T. (2019). Emotion regulation difficulties and social cognitions predicting PTSD severity and quality of life among treatment seeking combat veterans. *Military Behavioral Health*, 7(1), 73–82. https://doi.org/10.1080/21635781.2018.1540314
- Smith, B. W., Ortiz, J. A., Steffen, L. E., Tooley, E. M., Wiggins, K. T., Yeater, E. A., Montoya, J., & Bernard, M. L. (2011). Mindfulness is associated with fewer PTSD symptoms, depressive symptoms, physical symptoms, and alcohol problems in urban firefighters. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 79(5), 613. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0025189
- Soler, J., Elices, M., Pascual, J. C., Martín-Blanco, A., Feliu-Soler, A., Carmona, C., & Portella,M. J. (2016). Effects of mindfulness training on different components of impulsivity inborderline personality disorder: Results from a pilot randomized study. *Borderline*

- Personality Disorder and Emotion Dysregulation, 3(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40479-015-0035-8
- Spiller, T. R., Liddell, B. J., Schick, M., Morina, N., Schnyder, U., Pfaltz, M., Bryant, R. A., & Nickerson, A. (2019). Emotional reactivity, emotion regulation capacity, and posttraumatic stress disorder in traumatized refugees: An experimental investigation. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 32(1), 32–41.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.22371
- Spinhoven, P., Drost, J., de Rooij, M., van Hemert, A. M., & Penninx, B. W. J. H. (2015). Is experiential avoidance a mediating, moderating, independent, overlapping, or proxy risk factor in the onset, relapse and maintenance of depressive disorders? *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 40(2), 150–163. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10608-015-9747-8
- Steil, R., Dittmann, C., Müller-Engelmann, M., Dyer, A., Maasch, A.-M., & Priebe, K. (2018). Dialectical behaviour therapy for posttraumatic stress disorder related to childhood sexual abuse: A pilot study in an outpatient treatment setting. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, 9(1), 1423832. https://doi.org/10.1080/20008198.2018.1423832
- Sun, S., Crooks, N., DiClemente, R. J., & Sales, J. M. (2020). Perceived neighborhood violence and crime, emotion regulation, and PTSD symptoms among justice-involved, urban African-American adolescent girls. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice,* and Policy, 12(6), 593–598. https://doi.org/10.1037/tra0000562
- Svaldi, J., Griepenstroh, J., Tuschen-Caffier, B., & Ehring, T. (2012). Emotion regulation deficits in eating disorders: A marker of eating pathology or general psychopathology?

 *Psychiatry Research, 197(1–2), 103–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2011.11.009

- Sydenham, M., Beardwood, J., & Rimes, K. A. (2016). Beliefs about emotions, depression, anxiety and fatigue: A mediational analysis. *Behavioural and Cognitive Psychotherapy*, 45(01), 73–78. https://doi.org/10.1017/s1352465816000199
- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (2013). *Using multivariate statistics* (6th ed.). Pearson.
- Takarangi, M. K., Nayda, D., Strange, D., & Nixon, R. D. (2017). Do meta-cognitive beliefs affect meta-awareness of intrusive thoughts about trauma? *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry*, 54, 292–300. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbtep.2016.10.005
- Tangney, J. P., Miller, R. S., Flicker, L., & Barlow, D. H. (1996). Are shame, guilt, and embarrassment distinct emotions? *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 70(6), 1256–1269. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.70.6.1256
- Taylor, C. T., Laposa, J. M., & Alden, L. E. (2004). Is avoidant personality disorder more than just social avoidance? *Journal of Personality Disorders*, *18*(6), 571–594. https://doi.org/10.1521/pedi.18.6.571.54792
- Thompson, B. L., & Waltz, J. (2008). Self-compassion and PTSD symptom severity. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 21(6), 556–558. https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.20374
- Thompson, R. A. (1994). Emotion regulation: A theme in search of definition. *Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development*, 59(2–3), 25–52. https://doi.org/10.2307/1166137
- Thompson, R. A., & Calkins, S. D. (1996). The double-edged sword: Emotional regulation for children at risk. *Development and Psychopathology*, 8(1), 163. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0954579400007021

- Tooby, J., & Cosmides, L. (2008). The evolutionary psychology of the emotions and their relationship to internal regulatory variables. In M. Lewis, J. M. Haviland-Jones, & L. F. Barrett (Eds.), *Handbook of emotions* (pp. 114–137). Guilford Press.
- Torchalla, I., & Strehlau, V. (2017). The evidence base for interventions targeting individuals with work-related PTSD: A systematic review and recommendations. *Behavior Modification*, 42(2), 273–303. https://doi.org/10.1177/0145445517725048
- Tripp, J. C., & McDevitt-Murphy, M. E. (2015). Emotion dysregulation facets as mediators of the relationship between PTSD and alcohol misuse. *Addictive Behaviors*, 47, 55–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2015.03.013
- Tripp, J. C., McDevitt-Murphy, M. E., Avery, M. L., & Bracken, K. L. (2015). PTSD symptoms, emotion dysregulation, and alcohol-related consequences among college students with a trauma history. *Journal of Dual Diagnosis*, 11(2), 107–117. https://doi.org/10.1080/15504263.2015.1025013
- Tull, M. T., & Gratz, K. L. (2008). Further examination of the relationship between anxiety sensitivity and depression: The mediating role of experiential avoidance and difficulties engaging in goal-directed behavior when distressed. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 22(2), 199–210. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.janxdis.2007.03.005
- Tull, M. T., & Roemer, L. (2007). Emotion regulation difficulties associated with the experience of uncued panic attacks: Evidence of experiential avoidance, emotional nonacceptance, and decreased emotional clarity. *Behavior Therapy*, 38(4), 378–391. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2006.10.006

- Tull, M. T., Barrett, H. M., McMillan, E. S., & Roemer, L. (2007a). A preliminary investigation of the relationship between emotion regulation difficulties and posttraumatic stress symptoms. *Behavior Therapy*, 38(3), 303–313. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2006.10.001
- Tull, M. T., Gratz, K. L., & Weiss, N. H. (2011a). Exploring associations between borderline personality disorder, crack/cocaine dependence, gender, and risky sexual behavior among substance-dependent inpatients. *Personality Disorders: Theory, Research, and Treatment*, 2(3), 209–219. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021878
- Tull, M. T., Gratz, K. L., McDermott, M. J., Bordieri, M. J., Daughters, S. B., & Lejuez, C. W. (2016). The role of emotion regulation difficulties in the relation between PTSD symptoms and the learned association between trauma-related and cocaine cues.
 Substance Use & Misuse, 51(10), 1318–1329.
 https://doi.org/10.3109/10826084.2016.1168445
- Tull, M. T., Gratz, K. L., Salters, K., & Roemer, L. (2004). The role of experiential avoidance in posttraumatic stress symptoms and symptoms of depression, anxiety, and somatization.
 The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease, 192(11), 754–761.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/01.nmd.0000144694.30121.89
- Tull, M. T., Hahn, K. S., Evans, S. D., Salters-Pedneault, K., & Gratz, K. L. (2011b). Examining the role of emotional avoidance in the relationship between posttraumatic stress disorder symptom severity and worry. *Cognitive Behaviour Therapy*, 40(1), 5–14. https://doi.org/10.1080/16506073.2010.515187
- Tull, M. T., Jakupcak, M., Paulson, A., & Gratz, K. L. (2007b). The role of emotional inexpressivity and experiential avoidance in the relationship between posttraumatic stress disorder symptom severity and aggressive behavior among men exposed to interpersonal

- violence. *Anxiety, Stress, & Coping, 20*(4), 337–351. https://doi.org/10.1080/10615800701379249
- Tull, M. T., Vidaña, A. G., & Betts, J. E. (2020). Emotion in posttraumatic stress disorder:
 Etiology, assessment, neurobiology, and treatment. Elsevier Inc.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-816022-0.00010-7
- Tull, M. T., Weiss, N. H., Adams, C. E., & Gratz, K. L. (2012). The contribution of emotion regulation difficulties to risky sexual behavior within a sample of patients in residential substance abuse treatment. *Addictive Behaviors*, 37(10), 1084–1092. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2012.05.001
- Twohig, M. P., & Levin, M. E. (2017). Acceptance and commitment therapy as a treatment for anxiety and depression: A review. *Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, 40, 751–770. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psc.2017.08.009
- Tyng, C. M., Amin, H. U., Saad, M. N. M., & Malik, A. S. (2017). The influences of emotion on learning and memory. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8(1454). https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01454
- U.S. Census Bureau (2020). Current Population Survey, Annual Social and Economic Supplement.
- Valdez, C. E., & Lilly, M. M. (2019). Modes of processing trauma: Self-compassion buffers affective guilt. *Mindfulness 10*, 824–832. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-018-1035-8
- Van Cappellen, P. (2019). The emotion of joy: Commentary on Johnson. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, *15*(1), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2019.1685571
- Van Dam, N. T., Sheppard, S. C., Forsyth, J. P., & Earleywine, M. (2011). Self-compassion is a better predictor than mindfulness of symptom severity and quality of life in mixed

- anxiety and depression. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 25, 123–130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.janxdis.2010.08.011
- Vasterling, J., Schumm, J., Proctor, S., Gentry, E., King, D., & King, L. (2008). Posttraumatic stress disorder and health functioning in a non-treatment- seeking sample of Iraq war veterans: A prospective analysis. *Journal of Rehabilitation Research and Development*, 45(3), 347–358. https://doi.org/10.1682/JRRD.2007.05.0077
- Veilleux, J. C., Skinner, K. D., Reese, E. D., & Shaver, J. A. (2014). Negative affect intensity influences drinking to cope through facets of emotion dysregulation. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 59, 96–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2013.11.012
- Verdejo-García, A., Lawrence, A. J., & Clark, L. (2008). Impulsivity as a vulnerability marker for substance-use disorders: Review of findings from high-risk research, problem gamblers and genetic association studies. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 32(4), 777–810. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2007.11.003
- Vettese, L. C., Dyer, C. E., Li, W. L., & Wekerle, C. (2011). Does self-compassion mitigate the association between childhood maltreatment and later emotion regulation difficulties? A preliminary investigation. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, 9(5), 480-491. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-011-9340-7
- Viana, A. G., Hanna, A. E., Woodward, E. C., Raines, E. M., Paulus, D. J., Berenz, E. C., & Zvolensky, M. J. (2018). Emotional clarity, anxiety sensitivity, and PTSD symptoms among trauma-exposed inpatient adolescents. *Child Psychiatry & Human Development*, 49(1), 146–154. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10578-017-0736-x
- Vilaplana-Pérez, A., Sidorchuk, A., Pérez-Vigil, A., Brander, G., Isoumura, K., Hesselmark, E., Sevilla-Cermeño, L., Valdimarsdóttir, U. A., Song, H., Jangmo, A., Kuja-Halkola, R.,

- D'Onofrio, B. M., Larsson, H., Garcia-Soriano, G., Mataix-Cols, D., & Fernández de la Cruz, L. (2020). Assessment of posttraumatic stress disorder and educational achievement in Sweden. *JAMA*, *3*(12). https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.28477
- Vogt, D., Smith, B. N., Fox, A. B., Amoroso, T., Taverna, E., & Schnurr, P. P. (2016).
 Consequences of PTSD for the work and family quality of life of female and male U.S.
 Afghanistan and Iraq War veterans. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*,
 52(3), 341–352. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-016-1321-5
- Vujanovic, A. A., Bonn-Miller, M. O., Potter, C. M., Marshall, E. C., & Zvolensky, M. J. (2010).
 An evaluation of the relation between distress tolerance and posttraumatic stress within a trauma-exposed sample. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 33(1), 129–135. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10862-010-9209-2
- Vujanovic, A. A., Niles, B., Pietrefesa, A., Schmertz, S. K., & Potter, C. M. (2011). Mindfulness in the treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder among military veterans. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, 42(1), 24–31. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0022272
- Wald, J., & Taylor, S. (2009). Work impairment and disability in posttraumatic stress disorder: A review and recommendations for psychological injury research and practice.
 Psychological Injury and Law, 2(3–4), 254–262.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s12207-009-9059-y
- Walsh, K., Fortier, M. A., & DiLillo, D. (2010). Adult coping with childhood sexual abuse: A theoretical and empirical review. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, *15*(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2009.06.009

- Weathers, F. W., Blake, D. D., Schnurr, P. P., Kaloupek, D. G., Marx, B. P., & Keane, T. M. (2013a). The Life Events Checklist for DSM-5 (LEC-5). Instrument available from the National Center for PTSD at www.ptsd.va.gov
- Weathers, F.W., Blake, D.D., Schnurr, P.P., Kaloupek, D.G., Marx, B.P., & Keane, T.M. (2013b). The Clinician-Administered PTSD Scale for DSM-5 (CAPS-5).
- Weathers, F. W., Litz, B. T., Keane, T. M., Palmieri, P. A., Marx, B. P., & Schnurr, P. P. (2013c). The PTSD Checklist for DSM-5 (PCL-5). Scale available from the National Center for PTSD at www.ptsd.va.gov
- Weiss, N. H., Sullivan, T. P., & Tull, M. T. (2015). Explicating the role of emotion dysregulation in risky behaviors: A review and synthesis of the literature with directions for future research and clinical practice. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 3, 22–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2015.01.013
- Weiss, N. H., Tull, M. T., Anestis, M. D., & Gratz, K. L. (2013a). The relative and unique contributions of emotion dysregulation and impulsivity to posttraumatic stress disorder among substance dependent inpatients. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *128*(1–2), 45–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2012.07.017
- Weiss, N. H., Tull, M. T., Lavender, J., & Gratz, K. L. (2013b). Role of emotion dysregulation in the relationship between childhood abuse and probable PTSD in a sample of substance abusers. *Child Abuse and Neglect*, *37*(11), 944–954. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2013.03.014
- Weiss, N. H., Tull, M. T., Viana, A. G., Anestis, M. D., & Gratz, K. L. (2012). Impulsive behaviors as an emotion regulation strategy: Examining associations between PTSD, emotion dysregulation, and impulsive behaviors among substance dependent inpatients.

- Journal of Anxiety Disorders, 26(3), 453–458. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.janxdis.2012.01.007
- Weiss, N. H., Walsh, K., DiLillo, D. D., Messman-Moore, T. L., & Gratz, K. L. (2019). A longitudinal examination of posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms and risky sexual behavior: Evaluating emotion dysregulation dimensions as mediators. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 48(3), 975–986. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-019-1392-y
- Weissman, D., Nook, E., Dews, A. A., Miller, A. B., Lambert, H., Sasse, S. F., Somerville, L. H., & McLaughlin, K. A. (2020). Low emotional awareness as a transdiagnostic mechanism underlying psychopathology in adolescence. https://doi.org/10.1177/2167702620923649
- Wheaton, M. G., & Pinto, A. (2017). The role of experiential avoidance in obsessive—compulsive personality disorder traits. *Personality Disorders: Theory, Research, and Treatment*, 8(4), 383–388. https://doi.org/10.1037/per0000200
- Wickramasuriya, D. S., & Faghih, R. T. (2020). A mixed filter algorithm for sympathetic arousal tracking from skin conductance and heart rate measurements in Pavlovian fear conditioning. *PLOS ONE*, *15*(4), e0231659. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0231659
- Wildes, J. E., & Marcus, M. D. (2010). Development of emotion acceptance behavior therapy for anorexia nervosa: A case series. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 44(5), 421–427. https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.20826
- Williamson, J. R. (2019). Self-compassion differences in those who have experienced sexual assault and non-sexual assault trauma. *Gender and Women's Studies*, 2(3), 3. https://doi.org/10.31532/GendWomensStud.2.3.003

- World Health Organization (2020). *Mental health and COVID-19*.

 http://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/health-emergencies/coronavirus-covid-19/novel-coronavirus-2019-ncov-technical-guidance/coronavirus-disease-covid-19-outbreak-technical-guidance-europe/mental-health-and-covid-19
- Yarnell, L. M., Stafford, R. E., Neff, K. D., Reilly, E. D., Knox, M. C., & Mullarkey, M. (2015). Meta-analysis of gender differences in self-compassion. *Self and Identity*, *14*(5), 499–520. https://doi.org/10.1080/15298868.2015.1029966
- Zhang, H., Carr, E. R., Garcia-Williams, A. G., Siegelman, A. E., Berke, D., Niles-Carnes, L. V., Patterson, B., Watson-Singleton, N., & Kaslow, N. J. (2018). Shame and depressive symptoms: Self-compassion and contingent self-worth as mediators? *Journal of Clinical Psychology in Medical Settings*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10880-018-9548-9
- Zhang, J. W., & Chen, S. (2016). Self-compassion promotes personal improvement from regret experiences via acceptance. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 42(2), 244–258. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167215623271

Appendix A

Eligibility Questionnaire

Please indicate your answer to each question.

Are you 18 years of age or older?

N = No

Y = Yes

Are you proficient in the English language at the 8th grade level or higher?

N = No

Y = Yes

Appendix B

Life Events Checklist - 5

Listed below are a number of difficult or stressful things that sometimes happen to people. For each event select one or more of the boxes to the right to indicate that: (a) it happened to you personally; (b) you witnessed it happen to someone else; (c) you learned about it happening to a close family member or close friend; (d) you were exposed to it as part of your job (for example, paramedic, police, military, or other first responder); (e) you're not sure if it fits; or it doesn't apply to you.

Be sure to consider your lifetime as you go through the list of events.

Event	Happened	Witnessed	Learned	Part of	Not	Doesn't
	to me	it	about it	my job	sure	apply
1. Natural disaster (for example, flood, hurricane, tornado, earthquake) 2. Fire or explosion						
<u> </u>						
3. Transportation accident (for example, car accident, boat accident, train wreck, plane crash)						
4. Serious accident at work, home, or during recreational activity						
5. Exposure to toxic substance (for example, dangerous chemicals, radiation)						
6. Physical assault (for example, being attacked, hit, slapped, kicked, beaten up)						
7. Assault with a weapon (for example, being shot, stabbed, threatened with a knife, gun, bomb)						
8. Sexual assault (rape, attempted rape, made to perform any type of sexual act through force or threat of harm)						
9. Other unwanted or uncomfortable sexual experience						

	10. Combat or exposure						
	to a war-zone (in the						
	military or as a civilian)						
	11. Captivity (for						
	example, being						
	kidnapped, abducted, held						
	hostage, prisoner of war)						
	12. Life-threatening						
	illness or injury						
	13. Severe human						
	suffering						
	14. Sudden violent death						
	(for example, homicide,						
	suicide)						
	15. Sudden accidental						
	death						
	16. Serious injury, harm,						
	or death you caused to						
	someone else						
	17. Any other very						
	stressful event or						
	experience						
th ev	onsider the worst event, which e most. If you have experient yent. Please answer the follow Briefly describe the worst events.	ced only one ving question	of the event as about the	s in PART worst even	1, use that t (check a	at one as the ll options	he worst that apply):
2.	How long ago did it happen	?		_ (please e	estimate if	you are n	ot sure)
	How did you experience it? It happened to me I witnessed it I learned about it I was repeatedly examedic, police, r	happening to exposed to de		t as part of			le,
Ρ¢	Other, please desc		11131 103	Jonaci j			
4.	Was someone's life in dange	er?					
	Yes, my life						
	Yes, someone else	e's life					
	No						

Appendix C

Demographics Questionnaire

What was your sex at birth?
0 = Male 1 = Female 2 = Intersex 3 = Other
What is your current gender identity? (Check all that apply)
1 = Man 2 = Woman 3 = Trans man 4 = Trans woman 5 = Genderqueer 6 = Gender fluid 7 = Agender 8 = Questioning or unsure 9 = Other
What is your date of birth? Please enter in the format mm/dd/yyyy.
What is your age (in years)?
Is English a second language for you?
N = No Y = Yes
Were you born in the United States?
N = No Y= Yes If NO: How long have you been living here? Where were you born?
What is your ethnic background?
1 = White 2 = American Indian/Alaska Native

- 3 = Black/African American
- 4 = Asian/Asian American
- 5 = Hispanic/Latino
- 6 = Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander
- 7 = Middle Eastern/Northern African
- 8 = Other (including multi-ethnic, please specify): _____

How do you self-identify?

- 1 = Straight (Heterosexual)
- 2 = Gay
- 3 = Lesbian
- 4 = Bisexual
- 5 = Queer
- 6 =Questioning or unsure
- 7 = Asexual
- 8 =Same-Gender-Loving
- 9 = Pansexual
- 10 = Other

What is your current relationship status?

- 1 =Single, never married
- 2 = Widowed
- 3 = Married
- 4 = Separated
- 5 = Divorced
- 6 = Living with partner (but not legally married)
- 7 = Long-term committed relationship

What is the highest grade or degree you have completed?

- 1 = Eighth grade or less
- 2 = Some high school
- 3 = GED
- 4 = High school graduate
- 5 = Business or technical training beyond high school
- 6 =Some college
- 7 = College graduate
- 8 = Some graduate or professional school beyond college
- 9 = Master's degree
- 10 = Doctoral degree

Are you a student?

- 1 = Not a student
- 2 = Part-time student

3 = Full-time student

What is your employment status?

- 1 = Unemployed
- 2 = Employed part-time (working 1-30 hours a week)
- 3 = Employed full-time (working more than 30 hours a week)
- 4 = Home-maker
- 5 = Retired

What is your total household/family income?

- 1 = Less than \$9,999
- 2 = \$10,000 19,999
- 3 = \$20,000 29,999
- 4 = \$30,000 39,999
- 5 = \$40,000 49,999
- 6 = \$50,000 59,999
- 7 = \$60,000 69,000
- 8 = \$70,000 79,000
- 9 = \$80,000 89,000
- 10 = \$90,000 99,999
- 11 = \$100,000 or more

Appendix D

PTSD Checklist - 5

<u>Instructions:</u> Below is a list of problems that people sometimes have in response to a very stressful experience. Please read each problem carefully and then select one of the numbers to the right to indicate how much you have been bothered by that problem in the <u>past month.</u>

In the past month, how much were you bothered by:	Not at all	A little bit	Moderately	Quite a bit	Extremely
1. Repeated, disturbing, and unwanted memories of the stressful experience?	0	1	2	3	4
2. Repeated, disturbing dreams of the stressful experience?	0	1	2	3	4
3. Suddenly feeling or acting as if the stressful experience were actually happening again (as if you were actually back there reliving it)?	0	1	2	3	4
4. Feeling very upset when something reminded you of the stressful experience?	0	1	2	3	4
5. Having strong physical reactions when something reminded you of the stressful experience (for example, heart pounding, trouble breathing, sweating)?	0	1	2	3	4
6. Avoiding memories, thoughts, or feelings related to the stressful experience.	0	1	2	3	4
7. Avoiding external reminders of the stressful experience (for example, people, places, conversations, activities, objects, or situations)?	0	1	2	3	4
8. Trouble remembering important parts of the stressful experience?	0	1	2	3	4
9. Having strong negative beliefs about yourself, other people, or the world (for example, having thoughts such as: I am bad, there is something seriously wrong with me, no one can be trusted, the world is completely dangerous)?	0	1	2	3	4
10. Blaming yourself or someone else for the stressful experience or what happened after it?	0	1	2	3	4
11. Having strong negative feelings such as fear, horror, anger, guilt, or shame?	0	1	2	3	4
12. Loss of interest in activities that your used to enjoy?		1	2	3	4
13. Feeling distant or cut off from other people?	0	1	2	3	4

14. Trouble experiencing positive feelings (for	0	1	2	3	4
example, being unable to feel happiness or					
have loving feelings for people close to you)?					
15. Irritable behavior, angry outbursts, or	0	1	2	3	4
acting aggressively?					
16. Taking too many risks or doing things that	0	1	2	3	4
could cause you harm?					
17. Being "super alert" or watchful or on	0	1	2	3	4
guard?					
18. Feeling jumpy or easily startled?	0	1	2	3	4
19. Having difficulty concentrating?	0	1	2	3	4
20. Trouble falling or staying asleep?	0	1	2	3	4

Appendix E

Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale

Please indicate how often the following statements apply to you by writing the appropriate number from the scale below on the line beside each item.

1	2	3	4	5
Almost never	Sometimes	About half the	Most of the time	Almost always
		time		·
(0-10%)	(11-35%)	(36-65%)	(66-90%)	(91-100%)
1) I am clear a				
2) I pay attent				
3) I experience			ut of control.	
4) I have no id		~		
5) I have diffic	-	out of my feelings.		
6) I am attenti	•			
7) I know exac		-		
8) I care about				
	sed about how I fee			
10) When I'm				
11) When I'm				
12) When I'm	upset, I become en	nbarrassed for feeli	ng that way.	
13) When I'm	upset, I have diffic	culty getting work d	lone.	
14) When I'm				
15) When I'm	upset, I believe that	nt I will remain that	way for a long time	
16) When I'm 17) When I'm	upset, I believe that	nt I will end up feel	ing very depressed.	
17) When I'm	upset, I believe that	nt my feelings are v	alid and important.	
18) When I'm 19) When I'm 20) When I'm	upset, I have diffic	culty focusing on ot	her things.	
19) When I'm	upset, I feel out of	control.		
20) When I'm	upset, I can still ge	et things done.		
21) When I'm 22) When I'm	upset, I feel asham	ed at myself for fee	eling that way.	
22) When I'm	upset, I know that	I can find a way to	eventually feel bette	er.
23) When I'm	upset, I feel like I	am weak.		
24) When I'm	•		<u> </u>	
		for feeling that way		
	_	culty concentrating.		
	-	culty controlling my		
	-	_	do to make myself for	eel better.
	-	itated at myself for		
,	-	l very bad about my		
	± ·	it wallowing in it is		
	•	ol over my behavior		
	-	culty thinking about		
34) When I'm	upset I take time to	o figure out what I'	m really feeling.	

35) When I'm upset,	it takes me a	long time to	feel better.
36) When I'm upset,	my emotions	feel overwh	elming.

Appendix F

Self-Compassion Scale

Please read each statement carefully before answering. Indicate how often you behave in the stated manner, using the following scale:

Almost never				Almost always
1	2	3	4	5
2. When	I'm feeling down I ten things are going badly	nd to obsess and fixate	laws and inadequacies. e on everything that's viculties as part of life the	vrong.
	I think about my inad e rest of the world.	equacies, it tends to m	ake me feel more sepa	rate and cut off
			g emotional pain. e consumed by feeling	s of
	I'm down and out, I re like I am.	emind myself that ther	e are lots of other peop	le in the world
8. When	times are really diffic	_		
10. Whe	something upsets me on I feel inadequate in stacy are shared by mos	some way, I try to rem	ind myself that feeling	s of
11. I'm	intolerant and impatier	nt towards those aspect	ts of my personality I d myself the caring and	
		tend to feel like most of	other people are probab	oly happier
14. Whe			palanced view of the sit	uation.
	en I see aspects of myse			
	n I'm really struggling		keep things in perspecter people must be have	
	kind to myself when I'			
	en something upsets me			
		•	I'm experiencing suffer	•
	_		ings with curiosity and	openness.
	tolerant of my own flav	-	the incident out of pror	acrtica
	- -		the incident out of prop tend to feel alone in n	
	_	-	se aspects of my person	•
like				

Appendix G

Attention Check Items

Did you expend effort and attention sufficient to warrant using your responses for this research study?

Y = YES

N = NO

For this query, mark NO and move on.

Y = YES

N = NO

I would rather eat a piece of fruit than a piece of paper

I agree

Not sure

I disagree